
Enhancing Global Reach
Through Excellence

2007 Annual Report

3050 Spruce Street , St . Louis , Missour i 63103 s igma-a ldr ich.com



Office of the Chief Executive

Corporate Officers

Gilles A. Cottier
President, Research Essentials

Michael R. Hogan
Chief Administrative Officer &
Chief Financial Officer

David W. Julien
President, Research Specialties

Richard A. Keffer
Vice President,
General Counsel & Secretary

Karen J. Miller
Controller

Jai P. Nagarkatti
President & Chief Executive
Officer

Douglas W. Rau
Vice President,
Human Resources

Kirk A. Richter
Treasurer

David A. Smoller
President, Research Biotech

Carl S. Turza
Chief Information Officer

Gerrit J. C. van den Dool
Vice President, Sales

Steven G. Walton
Vice President, Safety & Quality

Franklin D. Wicks
President, SAFC

Board of Directors

David R. Harvey
Chairman of the Board

W. Lee McCollum
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer,
S.C. Johnson and Son, Inc.

Jai P. Nagarkatti
President and Chief
Executive Officer

Avi M. Nash
Former Partner, Goldman
Sachs; Managing Director,
Avi Nash LLC

William C. O’Neil, Jr.
Former Chief Executive Officer,
Tuitionfund.com

Steven M. Paul, M.D.
Executive Vice President for
Science and Technology and
President of the Lilly Research
Laboratories of Eli Lilly and
Company

J. Pedro Reinhard
Former Chief Financial Officer,
Dow Chemical Company;
President, Reinhard
& Associates

Timothy R.G. Sear
Former Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer,
Alcon, Inc.

D. Dean Spatz
Former Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer,
Osmonics, Inc.; Chief Executive
Officer, Watasso Ventures

Barrett A. Toan
Former Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer,
Express Scripts, Inc.

Corporate Information

Annual Meeting
Date: May 6, 2008
Time:11:00 a.m. CDT
Place: Sigma-Aldrich Life Science
and High Technology Center,
2909 Laclede Ave.,
St. Louis, MO 63103

General Information
Shares traded on NASDAQ
Global Select Market, Trading
symbol: SIAL; Options traded
on the Chicago Board Options
Exchange.

Transfer Agent
American Stock Transfer
and Trust Company,
New York, NY
800-937-5449

10-K
A copy of the Company’s
Form 10-K annual report, as
filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, may
be obtained without charge
by writing to the Secretary,
Sigma-Aldrich Corporation,
P.O. Box 14508,
St. Louis, Missouri 63178.

Corporate Offices
Sigma-Aldrich Corporation
3050 Spruce Street
St. Louis, Missouri 63103
800-521-8956
Fax: 314-286-7874
Email: sig-ald@sial.com
Website: sigma-aldrich.com

Leadership
Strengthening Our Commitment through Excellence

Rich Keffer, Karen Miller, Kirk Richter, Steve Walton,
Mike Hogan, Jai Nagarkatti, Carl Turza, Doug Rau

For the most up-to-date information about our Company visit our Investor
Relations Website at sigma-aldrich.com

Sigma-Aldrich, Sigma, Aldrich, SAFC, SAFC Biosciences, SAFC Supply Solutions, SAFC Hitech, SAFC
Pharma, Sigma in Orbits Device, Aqua Peptide, mirPremier, and Extract-N-Amp are trademarks
belonging to Sigma-Aldrich and its related companies.

QuantiGene is a registered trademark of Bayer Corp., and GenomePlex is a registered trademark
of Rubicon Genomics, Inc.

Page 1 photo: © 2008, The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Reprinted with permission.

This annual report is printed on FSC-certified
paper. The pages are printed on 10%
recycled stock.

Dave Julien, Gilles Cottier, Frank Wicks,
Gerrit van den Dool, David Smoller

The Company
Enhancing Global Reach through Excellence

At Sigma-Aldrich we are committed to accelerating customers’ success through leadership in Life Science, High Technology
and Service. In doing so, our leadership position was strengthened during 2007 through further investments in research
and development, strategic acquisitions and partnerships, the licensing of innovative technologies, and expansion in new
markets and faster growing economies. The Sigma-Aldrich vision is to be the leader in all the markets we serve. We remain a
trusted partner in research and manufacturing as we enhance our global reach through excellence.
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Chemicals (46,000 manufactured)
Equipment Items

Products
Leading the way in the life science
and high technology markets.

•

•

•

•

Pharmaceutical, Diagnostics,
Biotechnology Companies
Chemical and Allied Industrial
Companies
Universities, Government Institutions,
Not-for-Profit Organizations
Hospitals and Commercial Laboratories

Customers
Approximately one million individual
customers worldwide in over
80,000 accounts.
(% of total sales)

•
•
•
•

Research Specialties
SAFC
Research Essentials
Research Biotech

Portfolio
Four customer-centric business units
delivering quality and service everyday.
(% of total sales)
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•
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United States
CAPLA (Canada, Asia Pacific
and Latin America)
Europe

Revenue
Enhancing our global reach
through excellence.
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Research Biotech
2007 Sales: $299 million

Targeted Growth: 10%

Market Growth: 4–5%

Top 5 Competitors:
Applied Biosystems, GE Healthcare,
Invitrogen, Millipore, Qiagen

Research Essentials
2007 Sales: $388 million

Targeted Growth: 4%

Market Growth: 2–3%

Top 5 Competitors:
EMerck, Invitrogen, Thermo-Fisher,
VWR, Wako

Research Specialties
2007 Sales: $761 million

Targeted Growth: 6%

Market Growth: 2–3%

Top 5 Competitors:
EMerck, GE Healthcare,
Roche Biomolecular,
Thermo-Fisher, Wako

SAFC
2007 Sales: $591 million

Targeted Growth: 10%

Market Growth: 2–3%

Top 5 Competitors:
BASF, Covidien, DSM,
Evonik Degussa, Lonza

About the cover To celebrate reaching $2 billion in annual sales in 2007, we commissioned renowned St. Louis-based
artist John Pils to create the collage of our corporate headquarters and major facilities around the world, including
flags of the 36 countries from which we serve our customers every day. We thank you, and all of the investors who
continue to show confidence in our future, for your role in our shared success.



Our 7,900 dedicated employees working in 36
countries remained committed to enhance global
reach through excellence in everything we do to
drive customers’ success. Through a comprehensive
line of innovative products, which includes 100,000
chemicals and 30,000 laboratory equipment prod-
ucts backed by unsurpassed service, we delivered
value to our customers’ research, development and
manufacturing projects. Our products are used to
support research and development in a broad array
of applications ranging from pharmaceuticals to
semiconductor materials. The value we delivered to
our customers in turn helped us to deliver superior
returns to our shareholders.

Our 2007 results were driven by a continued focus to advance
all five initiatives of our customer-centric strategic plan, which was
formally launched at the beginning of 2006. We had another record
year for safety performance with the lowest recordable injury rate and
the best safety record in the industry. An initiative to support sustain-
able business programs was launched throughout the Company that
aims to decrease energy consumption through recycling and waste
reduction. All of these achievements established a strong foundation
for our continued growth.

Financial Results
Sigma-Aldrich’s strong performance continued in 2007, extending
our record to 33 consecutive years of continuous growth in sales and
earnings per share (EPS) for our chemical business. All of the Com-
pany’s fundamentals are strong and getting stronger. Once again in
2007 each of our four customer-centric business units (% of sales)
and all geographic regions (% of sales) contributed to sales growth.
Net sales increased by 13.4% to $2.04 billion, with SAFC (29%) lead-
ing the group with a reported gain of 19.1% followed by Research
Specialties (37%) at 13.6%, Research Essentials (19%) at 9.2% and
Research Biotech (15%) at 8.1%. Each geographic region posted sales
gains led by strong double-digit growth in faster growing international
markets. Reported sales in CAPLA (Canada, Asia Pacific and Latin

America) countries (20%) grew fastest at 20.1%,
with Europe (44%) and the U.S (36%) posting
growth rates of 17.9% and 5.4%, respectively.
These growth rates reflect, once again, Sigma-
Aldrich continuing to gain share in our markets.

Our earnings performance also set another
record with net income of $311.1 million and
diluted EPS of $2.34, reflecting 12.4% and 14.1%
increases, respectively, over 2006. A return on
equity (ROE) of 20.6% again exceeded our long-
term goal of 20% for the fifth consecutive year.
Our financial position remained strong with a
debt to capital ratio of 25.0% at December 31,
2007 and a 26.8% increase in cash flow from

operations, adding $63.8 million to our cash position during 2007.
We remain the most profitable company in the chemical industry
with the financial resources to invest for future growth.

Enhancing Global Reach through Excellence
Each of the five initiatives of our 2006 strategic plan, focused on
accelerating customers’ success, helped propel our growth in 2007.
Key highlights and accomplishments during the year included:

Enabling success through structure A key initiative of the 2006 plan
was to align our business units to serve different customer segments.
This customer-centric structure continued to serve us well in 2007 as
customers recognized several of our employees and business units
for their customer success driven approach. For the second year in
a row Abbott, a leading pharmaceutical and diagnostic company,
recognized Sigma-Aldrich with their “Supplier Excellence Award”.
Sigma-Aldrich was also chosen to receive the “Science Leadership
Award“ by the Academy of Science for supporting research.

Expanding our global footprint One of the dominant realities of a
global economy is the shifting of work from the western to eastern
parts of the world. We've done business in Asia for many years, and
we have a solid distribution channel throughout that region. We are

To Our Shareholders

By every measure, 2007 was an exceptional year for our Company. We achieved

a significant milestone by exceeding $2.0 billion in sales, delivered record earnings

and further strengthened our leadership position in the markets we serve. While we

achieved these record results, we also completed two strategic acquisitions and

initiated key collaborations to enhance our leadership position in life science, high

technology and service.

SIGMA-ALDRICH 2007 Annual Report 1



planning for 25% of our sales to come from these faster-growing
economies of the world by 2010. We're well on our way with 20%
of our 2007 sales from these markets. To support this growth, in 2007
we made some significant commitments to expand our footprint in
China and South Korea to have products produced and stored closer
to the customers in that region. In 2007, with a commitment of sup-
port by the government of Israel, we also began work to expand our
large-scale fermentation capabilities to produce active pharmaceutical
ingredients in Jerusalem. This leverages our core capabilities in the
region in an effort to become a dominant supplier of high potency
pharmaceuticals derived through fermentation.

Enhancing our worldwide reach through the Internet One other reality
and growing trend in our business is a shift to e-commerce channels and
the Internet to retrieve information and conduct business. In 2007, we
hit a new record with 40% of our research sales reaching us through
e-commerce channels. To support this trend and growth, we replaced
our current platform with a new e-commerce platform to offer cus-
tomized solutions for customers’ requirements. To increase content, ease
of use and search capabilities, we also launched Your Favorite Gene,
a specialized search tool and entered into a partnership with Ingenuity, a
leading life science content database company. We expect the combined
power of Your Favorite Gene and the Ingenuity partnership to result in a
paradigm shift in how life science researchers search for products based
on specific genes and disease pathways.

Leveraging process improvement Like service, process improvement is
ingrained in the fabric of our company. This year marks six straight
years of process improvement efforts that yielded annual savings in

excess of $15.0 million. To leverage our learnings from past world-
wide functional improvement initiatives, we completed a major study
to streamline our supply chain and launched a multi-year project with
eight separate sub-initiatives. When fully implemented, it is expected
to result in net savings of $35.0 to $45.0 million per year, adding
$0.19 to $0.24 to EPS by 2012.

Building capabilities through acquisitions Acquisitions and licensing
technology are important elements in our overall growth strategy.
Last year we made two acquisitions to expand our capabilities in
strategic aspects of our business. Epichem, which became part of our
SAFC business unit in February, will expand our capabilities to support
the growing material science and semiconductor materials market.
Molecular Medicine BioServices, based in Carlsbad, California, was
acquired to provide us capabilities in large-scale viral manufacturing.
In addition to these two acquisitions, we entered into a key partner-
ship with Sangamo Biosciences to develop products and applications
around their zinc finger-based technology that will enable researchers
to edit and insert gene fragments in living cells. These technologies
and licensing deals are expected to continue strengthening Sigma-
Aldrich’s leadership position in life science and high technology.

Building Bench Strength
Recognizing that the long-term success of Sigma-Aldrich is dependent
on the depth and breadth of management experience, we initiated a
formal process to identify and develop next-generation leaders. The
process involves early identification of talented employees with a
track record of superior performance and leadership potential. Career
paths are developed for each of these high potential employees to

JANUARY

Sigma-Aldrich launches
Protease Finder

Sigma-Aldrich launches
GenomePlex® Tissue
Whole Genome
Amplification Kit

FEBRUARY

Sigma-Aldrich acquires
Epichem Group Limited
to expand SAFC Hitech
capabilities

MARCH

Sigma introduces
QuantiGene® 2.0 RNA
Quantification System

APRIL

SAFC completes construc-
tion of major new protein
purification facility

Sigma-Aldrich introduces
Your Favorite Gene, a
comprehensive gene-based
search tool

MAY

Sigma-Aldrich acquires
Molecular Medicine
BioServices to expand
SAFC Pharma capabilities

JUNE

Sigma-Aldrich announces
the Aqua Peptide™ Partner-
ship Program and launch
of the world’s first aqua
peptide library

SAFC Supply Solutions
introduces a wide range
of food-grade certified
products

�

The synergy created through
this acquisition enhances our
position in the high
technology market.

2007 Year in Review

�

The expanded capacity responds
to the increased demand in
large-scale viral manufacturing.
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Strategic Plan Initiatives
1.) Align Organizational Structure with

Customers andMarkets

2.) Expand in Faster-Growing Geographic Markets

3.) Build on Internet Superiority

4.) Leverage Process Improvements for
Excellent Reinvestment Returns

5.) Fill Growth Targets through Acquisitions



build an array of required skills and prepare them for leadership roles.
This past year we also made some significant changes to strengthen
our management team. Gerrit van den Dool assumed an expanded
role as vice president of Sales and David Smoller was promoted to
president of the Research Biotech business unit.

Sharing Success with Shareholders
While we continued to work hard and drive customers’ success, we
remained focused on earning your trust by enhancing the value of
your investment in our Company. This year a significant amount of
our cash provided by operations was used to finance strategic acquisi-
tions and new capital projects in an effort to ensure the long-term
growth of Sigma-Aldrich. At the same time we continued to return
value to shareholders via dividends and share repurchases. In 2007,
we returned approximately $60 million in cash to shareholders through
dividends and repurchased $184 million in value of our shares.

Looking Ahead
The major mission of Sigma-Aldrich is to position the Company for
sustained and profitable growth over the long term. Many of the
elements are in place to realize this goal:

• A company with great brand recognition and a long history of
providing unsurpassed service to customers;

• Professional and highly skilled employees in all parts of the
organization;

• Great manufacturing capabilities and unique technology;
• The best geographic distribution network of any company in our

markets; and
• Healthy margins and a strong balance sheet.

Our goal for 2008 is to build on these capabilities. We’ll focus on
flawless execution of strategies and tactics to continue our top line
growth, leverage it to our bottom line, develop our next generation
of leaders and operate safely and in compliance wherever we do
business across the globe.

In closing, I'd like to thank two long-term directors for their many
years of service as members of our Board. Dr. Nina Federoff left our
Board in August 2007 to serve as the full-time scientific advisor to
the U.S. Secretary of State, and Mr. Bill O'Neil will retire in May 2008
following 21 years of dedicated service.

It is an honor and a privilege to work for a great company commit-
ted to helping customers find solutions that will contribute to improving
our quality of life worldwide. We are humbled by the legacy we have
inherited from those who have come before us, proud to be a part of
the success and world-class performance that is Sigma-Aldrich today,
and mindful of our responsibility to build on that legacy. I thank you
for your ongoing confidence in our Company. And I assure you that
we will do our best to continue to earn it by making Sigma-Aldrich
the best company it can possibly be.

JAI NAGARKATTI
President and Chief Executive Officer

JULY

Sigma-Aldrich and Sangamo
BioSciences announce
alliance to develop zinc
finger-based laboratory
research reagents

Sigma-Aldrich board mem-
ber Nina Fedoroff receives
national medal of science

AUGUST

Biomarker discovery
simplified with innovative
technology from
Sigma-Aldrich

Sigma-Aldrich announces
LentiExpress™ technology
for faster and easier high-
throughput RNAi screening

SEPTEMBER

Sigma-Aldrich expansion
in People’s Republic of
China to support SAFC
growth

SAFC expands european
commercial manufacturing
and storage capacities with
$10 million investment

OCTOBER

SAFC supports potent API
conjugate manufacturing
with new St. Louis
production suite

NOVEMBER

Sigma-Aldrich announces
mirPremier™ microRNA
isolation kit for miRNA
purification

Sigma-Aldrich donates
$6 million in inventory to
15 institutions around
the world

DECEMBER

Sigma-Aldrich Argentina
celebrates 2007 World
AIDS Day

Sigma-Aldrich hits $2 billion
in sales

2007 Year in Review (continued)

�

Investment increases cGMP commercial-scale
API manufacturing capacity at Arklow, Ireland
facility and expands capacity at Buchs,
Switzerland facilities.

�

Includes third-largest donation
in Sigma-Aldrich history, to be
used by St. Louis University
medical school research teams.
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Customer-Centric Business Units
Aligning Our Organizational Structure with Our Customers and Markets

Sigma-Aldrich’s customer focus is aligned around distinct customer groups tied directly to four business units. Closely
interrelated in their activities, these four business units are supported by centralized Finance, Information Systems,
Human Resources, Quality, Process Improvement, Compliance and Safety functions. We are a very integrated company.

RESEARCH ESSENTIALS

Research Essentials recognizes that research organizations

worldwide have a need for value beyond product when it comes to the

most commonly used laboratory chemicals and supplies. Quality and

price are fundamental to this market, but we enhance this with our

ability to collaboratively align business processes that deliver innova-

tive, cost-effective business solutions for customers.

In 2007, we listened to our customers’ concern for the environment

and responded by expanding our global returnable container program for

solvents. We also increased our emphasis on alternative solvents by offering

a wide array of stable products with reduced

energy waste and lower water solubility.

We continued to develop partnerships

with our largest global customers, and

leveraged our award-winning e-commerce

capabilities to create customized, seamless

connectivity between their operating

systems and ours. We expect to build on

this solution-based platform with enhanced,

value-added service to further leverage

our global presence and capabilities in

the scientific research market.

RESEARCH B IOTECH

Research Biotech supports life science researchers in pharma-

ceutical, biotechnology, academic, clinical research and government

institutions. We provide high-value and innovative tools, solutions and

services that enable scientists worldwide to do their work in every

phase of the life science workflow.

Our technology portfolio and partnerships continued to enhance

our global reach in 2007. As the commercial partner of The RNAi

Consortium, we provide access to key

gene silencing technology to thousands

of researchers worldwide. We have also

developed significant intellectual property

positions in many important areas of

research, including Extract-N-Amp™,

one of the world’s first integrated DNA

preparation and amplification processes.

A recent partnership with Ingenuity, Inc.

connects their comprehensive repository of

biological information with Sigma-Aldrich’s

enabling research products to generate the

first knowledge-based search engine.

SAFC

SAFC is recognized worldwide as a trusted leader in providing high-

quality, critical raw materials and active pharmaceutical ingredients

(APIs) for development and manufacturing in the pharmaceutical,

biopharmaceutical, diagnostics and high-technology industries. We

continued to improve our ability to serve the specialized requirements

of our growing customer base.

SAFC Pharma’s capabilities grew with the ground-breaking for a

$29 million potent-fermentation expansion

in Jerusalem, Israel, a $4.5 million capacity

expansion at our flagship high-potency

cGMP facility in Madison, Wisconsin,

and the opening of a $20 million com-

pletely-segregated protein extraction and

purification facility and new high-potency

API conjugation suite in St. Louis, Missouri.

SAFC Supply SolutionsTM was awarded a

three-year, $8.5 million services contract –

our single largest contract ever, and we

brought SAP systems integration to the

SAFC Biosciences™ business.

RESEARCH SPECIALTIES

Research Specialties again improved its position in this competi-

tive market by improving on its excellent customer service with more

value-added, customized services.

In 2007, Research Specialties added more than 3,000 new products

to an already robust offering of 100,000 products. We continue to

expand our offering in the analytical chromatography markets through

the 2006 acquisition of Advanced Separations Technology and through

an exclusive agreement with Advanced Materials Technology on fused-

core particles for high-purity liquid chromatography. Additionally, in the

area of analytical standards, our Fluka brand received ISO/IEC 17025

and ISO Guide 34 accreditation at its Buchs, Switzerland facility as a

certified reference material producer.

Through recent partnerships with

Nanocor, Inc. and Nanoco, Inc., we brought

two key nanotechnologies, quantum dot

nanocrystals and montmorillonite nanoclays,

to the research marketplace, enabling the

development of transformative applications

in multiple fields. We’ve collaborated with

HyEnergy, Inc. to develop novel materials

and advanced measurement systems to

accelerate research in hydrogen storage

and fuel cell technology.

Our e-procurement solutions are all
about intelligence and the empow-
erment of automated workflow
that leads to integrated productivity
in our customer’s organization.

We developed Universal Proteomics
Standards in collaboration with the
Association of Biomolecular Research
Facilities, designed to help customers
unravel the complexities of human
biology and disease faster.

The 2007 Epichem, Ltd. acquisition
launched SAFC as a major player in
the electronics industry under the
SAFC Hitech™ brand.

The Aldrichimica Acta, a highly
acclaimed chemistry review journal,
has again been ranked #1 (out of
56 similar journals) by Impact Factor
in the field of Organic Chemistry.



Purchasing, Production and Distribution
We have customers in pharmaceutical, healthcare, chemical, com-

puter and high-tech manufacturing companies and in universities

and research-based government agencies. Our products are key

enablers for those institutions to improve the quality of life.

This is why excellent service is critical to us. We strive to maintain

inventory on our 130,000 products for on-time shipment to our

customers, of which 95% is available from stock. To do so, we

have 17 distribution centers worldwide. However, before we place

a product on the shelf, it must be manufactured or procured, qual-

ity control tested, and packaged in one of our 31 manufacturing

plants located in 11 countries.

With proprietary processes, we produce 46,000 chemicals in

these plants, accounting for approximately 60% of our sales. We

procure the remaining chemicals from over 10,000 suppliers.

This global infrastructure has been continually enhanced

throughout our over 50-year history, as we strive to be the best in

the industry and maintain a competitive edge as we seek to better

serve our customers. We are in a strong leadership position – one

we intend to keep for years to come.

Technical Service
The global Technical Service team is composed of approximately

150 scientists with a variety of formal education and backgrounds.

This team is charged with the task of providing technical solutions

and recommendations on our extensive product lines using a number

of different approaches. In addition to conventional service meth-

ods of phone and email, the team has expanded services through

the Internet. Technical Service provides product detail content in

the form of frequently-asked questions and service through live

online chat. To continue accelerating our customers’ success, a

global approach to training is critical. We do that by providing

consistent and readily accessible training material to all Technical

Service scientists using our own College of Technical Service. The

College offers training material on systems, best practices and

product knowledge, another key improvement for our continued

improvement and global success.

Employees
The knowledge and capabilities Sigma-Aldrich possesses is truly

unrivaled, but our greatest asset, without a doubt, is our people.

We have a very committed workforce with over 7,900 employees

worldwide in 36 countries. Our One Company philosophy is the

basis of our culture. To succeed, our employees must live our

values, work safely, become involved in process improvement,

and strive for role model behavior. Unconditional teamwork is

also expected as we share

common knowledge and

systems. We have a his-

tory of hard work and

dedication that have

earned the Company an

admired position of global

leadership. This was our

vision yesterday, this is our

practice today, and this is

our mission for tomorrow.

Customer Interface
Customer Interface plays a critical role in our success through effec-

tively meeting the needs of over one million customers worldwide.

Our highly trained customer contact teams focus on providing

world-class support and services to customers in partnership with

our field sales organization. Customer Interface concentrates on

proactively meeting the individual needs of the customer by offering

solutions focused on making the overall customer experience the

best available in our markets. We believe our strong customer-

centric strategy, designed to create customer value, creates a

competitive advantage and loyal customers.

Unrivaled Global Service
Supporting Excellence Through Common Knowledge and Integrated Systems

Sigma-Aldrich leverages its Life Science and High Technology capabilities with an absolute obsession for service,
which is key to the success of our business. This includes timely shipment of the orders we receive each and every day.
It also includes the vast amount of scientific information we make available to our customers, which is unrivaled by
any other company in our market. With the latest systems and technology, and a dedicated workforce, we are truly
world class.

SIGMA-ALDRICH 2007 Annual Report 5



Ge Li
CEO
WuXi PharmaTech

“In 2007 we significantly expanded our partnership
with Sigma-Aldrich. Capitalizing on its global logistics
network to create customized shipment and delivery
services to support WuXi PharmaTech’s workflow,
Sigma-Aldrich helped to shorten our cycle time and
increase the efficiency of services to our global cus-
tomers. In addition, Sigma-Aldrich has leveraged its
chemistry expertise to deliver automated compound
searching capabilities that enable WuXi PharmaTech
to streamline our sourcing process.”

Dr. Slobodan Beronja
HFSP Fellow
Rockefeller University

“I approached Sigma-Aldrich while in the process of
securing funding for the purchase of a lentiviral
shRNA library for screening in my lab. We received
relevant and up-to-date information on the product,
sample material that was essential to convince us of
the product’s quality, a presentation along with a
Q&A session for the whole lab, and prompt, honest
and personal assistance. In the end, I was quite happy
to become Sigma-Aldrich’s customer and establish a
relationship with the Company as a supplier.”
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Worldwide Locations
With offices in 36 countries, Sigma-Aldrich is a global company. We have
operations around the world to meet our customers’ needs, with offices that
support Sales, Distribution and Production.

• Argentina
••• Australia

• Austria
• Belgium

•• Brazil
••• Canada
•• China
• Czech Republic
• Denmark

• Finland
•• France

••• Germany
• Greece
• Hungary

••• India
••• Ireland
••• Israel

• Italy

••• Japan
• Malaysia

•• Mexico
• Netherlands
• New Zealand
• Norway
• Poland
• Portugal
• Russia

• Singapore
• South Africa

•• South Korea
• Spain

•• Sweden
••• Switzerland
••• Taiwan
••• United Kingdom
••• United States

• SALES • DISTRIBUTION • PRODUCTION



John Barr, Ph.D.
Senior Vice President
Research & Development, A.P. Pharma

“Our company has been working with SAFC for over
five years. In that time, we have moved a lab scale
synthesis of a novel bioerodible polymer from our
facility to their GMP plant in Wisconsin. At every step,
we have been delighted with the interactions with our
colleagues at SAFC. They are responsive, intelligent
and, even with the inevitable technical difficulties,
display a commendable attitude. As we have moved
through non-clinical and on through clinical trials,
SAFC has played a pivotal role in our progress and will
continue to do so through commercialization. It is a
pleasure to work with such a professional organization.”

Raymond Sibeon
University of Liverpool
Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics

“The very nature of scientific research studies often
results in unexpected demands from researchers,
anxious to test out a theory that requires an urgent
supply of a biochemical, solvent, or enzyme. When
faced with such urgent requests, I always reach for a
Sigma-Aldrich catalog, secure in the knowledge that
the required item will be delivered the next day with-
out fail. The success of the business is undoubtedly
built upon their efforts to ensure that customers are
kept up-to-date with the latest innovations and scien-
tific breakthrough techniques, and that Sigma-Aldrich
continues to lead the field in scientific endeavor for
many years to come.”

SIGMA-ALDRICH 2007 Annual Report 7



In 2007, we had another strong year as we work to achieve our goal

of increasing sales in CAPLA markets to 25% of our total sales by

2010. By staying focused on our strategic plan initiatives, we had

significant accomplishments in China, India, and Brazil.

The Chinese market continues to respond favorably to our

expanded presence from the integration of our 2006 acquisition,

which enabled us to eliminate dealers and distributors and serve

our customers directly. We’ve now implemented our global SAP

operating system and increased inventories in China, delivering

superior service to our growing customer base and driving 2007

sales growth over 30%. We also announced our intent to invest

in a site at WuXi New District Park to create a new Asia-Pacific

manufacturing hub with expected completion in early 2009.

Our customer-centric strategy was also evident in India, as we

expanded drop shipment capabilities into Kolkata and Hyderabad to

support the contract research organizations in this growing region.

Our new facility in Bangalore includes fully integrated production

capabilities to support global demand. We continue to leverage our

sourcing capabilities to strengthen partnerships with our global cus-

tomers as they expand in this faster-growing geography. These efforts

have helped us deliver sales growth of approximately 50% in India.

Our efforts in Brazil continued to produce strong results, with sales

again growing above expectations at almost 34%. We delivered on

our plan to expand direct sales efforts and marketing programs, and

increased inventories to deliver enhanced local service.

As these and other faster-growing markets develop, we plan to

continue to leverage our global reach and extend customer part-

nerships through value-added services. We feel that this level of

activity and the potential it offers can only be delivered and real-

ized by a strong, integrated, global company like Sigma-Aldrich.

Our customers’ projects are often collaborative efforts across several countries on

different continents. Our commitment to serving faster-growing global economies

extends beyond simply delivering unrivaled service and scientific knowledge in local

markets. With a goal of enabling science around the world, we continue to leverage

our reach to support our customers’ businesses, both globally and locally, through

their partnership with Sigma-Aldrich.

8 SIGMA-ALDRICH 2007 Annual Report

Growing Reach
Expanding in Faster-Growing Geographic Markets

Number one in China and India

In December 2007, Sigma-Aldrich was rated by BioInformatics LLC as the number one provider
of products and/or services for life science research in China and India. Left: Frank Wicks,
president of Sigma-Aldrich’s SAFC business unit, meets with Mr. Chunhao Fang, vice director
of Wuxi New District.



Top: In May, 2007, Sigma-Aldrich proudly broke ground on its new
cGMP production expansion at its Buchs, Switzerland facility, which
is expected to better serve our SAFC customers by improving cGMP
compliance and storage capabilities.

Bottom: With the Bangalore, India facility, the Company continues
its expansion into the faster-growing geographic markets to better
serve our global customers.
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Top: Smartboard computer projection is used to conduct high
technology presentations as well as hands-on training sessions
in an effort to promote excellence.

Bottom: We believe a strong IT infrastructure, with ongoing
enhancements and upgrades, will continue to support our loyal
customer base.

10 SIGMA-ALDRICH 2007 Annual Report



Systematic Improvements and Upgrades
Our improved customer satisfaction rating for our online presence

is a reflection of the improvements we made throughout the year.

The investment we have made in web analytics has helped us to

improve the user experience. Internet-based processes are driving

the integration of supply chains between suppliers

and customers.

Infrastructure Enhancements
We invested in a new IBM WebSphere Commerce platform and

successfully migrated our customer base to it in 2007. We also

implemented a content management system for our website in an

effort to improve the online user experience. These technology

upgrades help ensure that our world-class website infrastructure

remains extremely reliable and stable.

Customers Purchasing Online
Our new e-commerce platform enables us to more efficiently inte-

grate with our customers’ procurement processes. We introduced

online chat for our technical service inquiries, shortening problem

resolution time and increasing convenience for customers. Our

revised online product catalog enables customers to quickly

browse products by research areas, techniques, applications and

categories – providing a seamless user experience.

Satisfied Customers
We have a loyal customer base. They appreciate our passion for

delivering quality information, the ease of doing business with us

and unsurpassed service levels. In 2008, we will leverage the

infrastructure investment we have made and further improve our

customers’ experience with Sigma-Aldrich. We will also address

the online social

networking needs of

the up-coming genera-

tion of scientists. This

includes the develop-

ment of resources and

capabilities to leverage

new Web 2.0 technolo-

gies and methods for

engaging customers

through blogs, affiliate

websites and social

networks.

The Internet has become our primary channel to communicate with customers and

to support their work. Today, one million unique users visit our website every month,

with approximately 40% of worldwide research sales coming through that channel.

As a result, we enjoy a leadership position as a top site in the industry with a solid

worldwide customer base in research and industry.

Web Strategy
Building on Our Internet Superiority

Strong Internet Presence

Researchers and scientists visit our website for the depth of product information, literature,
and application data that we provide. We continually improve navigation and increase content
to further strengthen our global reach and to better serve our customers.

SIGMA-ALDRICH 2007 Annual Report 11



Our ability to deliver products to customers anywhere in the

world, whenever they need them, is at the center of Sigma-

Aldrich’s continued success. In 2007, a select management

team studied every aspect of our operations from supplier to

customer. The result of this six-month strategic supply chain

review is a plan for significant improvements over the next five

years. These improvements are expected to provide Sigma-Aldrich

with even broader global reach, shortening the distance between

customers and the products that fuel their work. While all cus-

tomers will benefit, the impact will be greatest for those in

countries outside the U.S. and Europe.

Improved service levels and greater global reach are not the

only benefits of the supply chain initiative. Through eight separate

but complementary initiatives that were launched in 2007,

margins should start to improve modestly in 2008 with the full

impact – $35 to $45 million in annual benefits – anticipated by

2012. The increasing improvement in our supply chain is expected

to accelerate our customers’ success while improving our share-

holder returns.

Concurrent with the primary focus on supply chain, our

broad commitment to process improvement at all levels of the

organization continued in 2007. An increasing number of improve-

ment initiatives are aimed at improving the interface between

departments and functions.

Process improvement is an integral part of our culture at Sigma-Aldrich. It is an

approach for testing and implementing changes that will yield positive results.

Embracing process improvement has allowed us to improve the ways we serve our

customers and to increase the value of our life science and high technology products.

Processes
Leveraging Process Improvements for Excellent Reinvestment Returns

12 SIGMA-ALDRICH 2007 Annual Report

Process Improvement

Managers are working together to improve interconnected processes that tie their function
and site to other operations upstream and down. Process improvement continues to grow
as the universal language of Sigma-Aldrich worldwide.



Top and Bottom Left: Our new cGMP potent active pharmaceuti-
cal ingredients (APIs) conjugation suite at our SAFC Pharma sec-
tor’s St. Louis manufacturing campus. This suite supports oncology
drug substance requirements that demand a combination of small
molecule chemistry, containment engineering, highly-regulated
biologics manufacturing and extensive quality control capabilities.

Bottom Right: In 2007, our warehouse in Schnelldorf, Germany
served 36 countries around the world through approximately
1.7 million bottles of inventory maintained at that site.
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Sigma-Aldrich has continually grown its core competencies, along
with the latest in cutting-edge research tools and solutions. As a
result, we have strengthened our leadership position through further
investments in research and development, strategic acquisitions and
partnerships, and the licensing of innovative technologies.

In May, Sigma-Aldrich acquired Molecular Medicine BioServices, Inc. to further
enhance the biologics capabilities within its SAFC Pharma focus area. Its core
expertise is in the development and clinical manufacturing of viral products,
drawing on cutting-edge technology to deliver DNA, RNA and critical active
ingredients for the production of novel vaccines and gene therapies.
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Next to 1,000 and 1,600 L glass-lined, jacketed reactor vessels,
production operators discuss processing operations in the GMP
segregated reactor suite at SAFC Gillingham’s pilot plant.



Exciting new technologies continued to drive our acquisition and in-licensing activities

during 2007. Two acquired companies – Epichem Group Limited (headquartered

in Bromborough, UK) and Molecular Medicine BioServices (Carlsbad, California) –

added $52 million in annualized revenues to the Company’s product and service

portfolio, expanding and diversifying the pharmaceutical and high technology

customer offerings in our SAFC business.

Acquisitions
Filling Growth Targets through Acquisitions

The Epichem business focuses on supplying high-purity chemicals

to the electronics and photovoltaic markets and plays a key role in

helping customers that make faster, higher-performance semicon-

ductor devices for industrial and consumer markets by providing

new, more energy efficient solutions. As a key component of our

recently launched SAFC Hitech brand, they are already putting their

customer-centric

collaborative R&D

process to work

with many major

chip manufacturers

to develop new and

novel materials.

Molecular Medi-

cine BioServices

(MMB), a biophar-

maceutical contract

manufacturing

organization, has its

core expertise in the

development and clinical manufacturing of viral products, drawing

on cutting-edge technology to deliver DNA, RNA and critical active

ingredients for the production of novel vaccines and gene thera-

pies. Significantly enhancing SAFC Pharma’s oncology offer, MMB

develops and offers clinical-grade drug products for a variety of

cancer indicators, as well as for therapeutic indicators such as

Alzheimer’s and cardiovascular disease.

But acquisitions were only part of our efforts to expand our

technology reach in 2007. We filed 17 U.S. and six foreign patents

in the areas of chemistry and biotechnology, and analytical chemistry

devices for improved manufacturing processes. We also successfully

in-licensed more than 45 other technologies from leading academic

and scientific enterprises around the world. The most notable of

these took place through our alliance to combine Sangamo Bio-

Sciences’ and Sigma-Aldrich’s proprietary technologies toward

development of high value, zinc finger-based laboratory research

reagents. Through this new zinc finger platform technology, scien-

tists at both companies will be able to modify genes and develop

new cell lines in applications ranging from drug discovery to novel

stem cell and transgenic animal models.

As the global leader at what we do, committed to accelerating

our customers’ success in what they do, we never stop looking for

new and exciting technologies to help us meet their needs. So stay

tuned for what 2008 may bring.
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Molecular Medicine BioServices, Inc.

The 2007 acquisition of Molecular Medicine BioServices, Inc. brought extensive viral
development and commercial-scale manufacturing experience to Sigma-Aldrich.
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The WWSD committee considers environmental sustainability,

social responsibility and fiscal accountability – often called the

triple bottom line. We use the term “global citizenship” to

describe our activities and culture related to sustainability.

Here are just a few examples of our 2007 achievements and

opportunities for further progress in 2008:

Environmental Sustainability
Worldwide energy tracking Sigma-Aldrich has initiated an energy

and natural resource consumption monitoring system at all major

operations world-

wide. This includes

direct and indirect

CO2 emission moni-

toring to aid in the

development of an

accurate carbon

footprint. With this

data, Sigma-Aldrich

can set aggressive

goals for reducing

our carbon footprint.

Worldwide reuse and recycling Sigma-Aldrich has always recycled

materials where possible, and new opportunities have been found

throughout the Company. Partnerships are beginning to form with

customers. The reuse of shipping coolers is just one example of

progress in this area.

Green chemistry The use of more environmentally friendly

chemicals in our worldwide processes and products is called

“green” chemistry, and we are actively expanding these practices

within our operations where possible. This can be difficult due to

the strict quality standards we operate under, but our ability to

do this has been very successful. Where possible, we are sharing

this information with customers to expand their “green”

chemistry techniques.

ISO implementation team The WWSD Committee will monitor the

implementation of ISO 14001 certifications worldwide. We intend

to steadily increase the number of processing facilities that are ISO

14001 certified.

External reporting The WWSD Committee will monitor the

collection and reporting of the information from our key initiatives.

Sustainability metrics and measures will soon be published in a

Sustainable Development Annual Report for employees, customers

and investors to review.

Sigma-Aldrich has a rich history of social responsibility, one that our employees

have taken pride in for years. We strive to continue that great tradition. In early

2007, a Worldwide Sustainable Development (WWSD) committee was formed

to collect data, evaluate operations, and direct sustainable activities for

Sigma-Aldrich.

Community Focus
Aligning with Our Communities for Global Citizenship



Social Responsibility
Sigma-Aldrich is committed to serving the communities where we

live and work. The Team Sigma-Aldrich Program, for example,

sponsors 14 employee-participation charitable events in seven

cities across the U.S. Hundreds of employees contribute their time

and energy to make these events a success. Their commitment,

added to our Company’s financial support for these worthy causes,

clearly expresses our shared desire to “give something back.” We

will continue to show our communities, through Team Sigma-

Aldrich and similar efforts worldwide, how much we care.

Fiscal Accountability
Sigma-Aldrich is focused on taking our Company “beyond the

numbers.” And it’s not limited to our Finance group. Financial infor-

mation is powerful when it is analyzed, understood and acted upon.

Understanding what the numbers are saying is critical to improving

our bottom line, and process improvements are at the center of

our global efforts. We are contributing more and more to tactical

and strategic decisions and corporate initiatives. Analysis helps

support timely and informed business decisions, as well as identifies

opportunities for cost savings and further process improvements.

Sustaining Successful Communities
Our commitment to others is most visible in the help we provide

to researchers who are translating discoveries into meaningful

therapies, cures and other products that improve the lives of those

around them. Ensuring that competitively-priced, leading edge and

high-quality products reach research labs around the globe on time

and as promised is what most people clearly see. But our commit-

ment also extends to providing direct support to others in need in

the communities in which we live and work, by:

• Providing more than $6.5 million in donated products and another

$600 thousand in cash to more than 250 worthwhile charitable

organizations and academic institutions during 2007 alone;

• Company and Sigma-Aldrich Foundation giving that has

combined to provide more than $12.8 million in aid to others

over the past five years;

• Sponsoring 14 employee-participation charitable events each

year through Team Sigma-Aldrich, an effort which attracted the

involvement of 1,200 of our employees, their family members

and friends over the past year; and

• Providing additional support to employees who donate their

time, talents and other resources to charitable causes of per-

sonal interest to them, particularly if employees have assumed

leadership roles in promoting such good works for others.

Sometimes our gifts are sufficient to stand on their own. But,

more often than not, they are combined with those of others to

achieve maximum impact. Which is what sustaining a community

is all about: people – like Sigma-Aldrich, our customers, suppliers,

trusted advisors, neighbors and friends – working together towards

shared success.

The community
is more than a source

of good PR.

Scientific discovery bridges the divide of social equity with knowledge.

By facilitating scientific breakthroughs, sharing knowledge, and building

mutually beneficial relationships with the peoples and communities

touched by our business, we promote a ‘caring’ community spirit that

benefits our business and local economy, as well as cultural cohesion

promoting science on a global scale.

It’s a global source of good business.
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The following performance graph compares the Company’s cumulative 
shareholder return (stock price appreciation plus reinvestment of dividends) 
for a five year period ended December 31, 2007, with that of the Standard & 
Poor’s 500 Composite Stock Price Index, an index of the companies included 
in the Wall Street Journal Specialty Chemicals Industry Group and an index of 
the companies included in the Value Line Chemical Specialty Industry Group, 
assuming that $100 was invested in each on December 31, 2002, and that 

all dividends were reinvested. These indices are only included for comparative 
purposes as required by Securities and Exchange Commission rules and do not 
necessarily reflect management’s opinion that such indices are an appropriate 
measure of the relative performance of the Company’s common stock, and are 
not intended to forecast or be indicative of possible future performance of the 
common stock.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007  

Sigma-Aldrich Corporation $100.00 $118.55 $126.84 $134.39 $167.01 $237.06

Standard & Poors 500 100.00 126.38 137.75 141.88 161.20 166.89

Specialty Chemicals Index (Value Line) 100.00 129.47 156.55 169.32 218.95 297.06

Specialty Chemicals Index (WSJ) 100.00 123.00 156.58 165.19 212.93 288.10
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The Company has added the Wall Street Journal Specialty Chemicals Industry 
Group as a performance graph comparison index in 2007 as we believe this 
index is a better representation of our competitors. This index includes the 
following companies: Albemarle Corp., Ashland Inc., Avery Dennison Corp., 
Cabot Corp., CF Industries Holdings Inc., Cytec Industries Inc., Ecolab Inc., 
FMC Corp., Hercules Inc., International Flavors & Fragrances Inc., Lubrizol 
Corp., Monsanto Co., Mosaic Co., PPG Industries Inc., Rohm & Haas Co., RPM 
International Inc., Sigma-Aldrich Corp., Terra Industries Inc., Valspar Corp. and 
WR Grace & Co.  

The Company also used as a performance graph comparison index those 
companies comprising the Value Line Chemical Specialty Industry Group (the 
“2007 Group”) as the Company has historically used this as its comparison 
index. The 2007 Group includes the following companies: A. Schulman Inc., 
ADM Tronics Unlimited Inc., Advanced Materials Group Inc., AEP Industries Inc., 
Airgas Inc., American Biltrite Inc., American Pacific Corp., American Vanguard 
Corp., Apollo Resources International Inc., Arch Chemicals Inc., Ashland Inc., 
Atlantis Plastics Inc., Avery Dennison Corp., Balchem Corp., Bodisen Biotech 
Inc., Cabot Microelectronics Corp., Ceradyne Inc., CF Industries Holdings Inc., 
Chemtura Corp., Clean Diesel Technologies Inc., Dyna Group International Inc., 
Ecolab Inc., Eden Bioscience Corp., Enerchem International Inc., Epolin Inc., 
Ethos Environmental Inc., Ferro Corp., Flamemaster Corp., Flexible Solutions 
International Inc., Foamex International Inc., Glassmaster Co., H.B. Fuller Co., 
Hercules Inc., HiEnergy Technologies Inc., Human Pheromone Sciences Inc., 
Humatech Inc., ICO Inc., Ikonics Corp., Innospec Inc., International Flavors 
& Fragrances Inc., Ionatron Inc., Isonics Corp., KMG Chemicals Inc., Kronos 

Worldwide Inc., Kyzen Corp., LaPolla Industries Inc., Lubrizol Corp., Lumera 
Corp., Luna Technologies International Inc., Lydall Inc., Material Sciences Corp., 
Millennium Cell Inc., Minerals Technologies Inc., Nano Chemical Systems 
Holdings Inc., Nanophase Technologies Corp., Nevada Chemicals Inc., New 
Oriental Energy & Chemical Corp., NewMarket Group, NL Industries Inc., No 
Fire Technologies Inc., O2Diesel Corp., Oil-Dri Corp. of America, OM Group 
Inc., Omnova Solutions Inc., Park Electrochemical Corp., Penford Corp., Planet 
Technologies Inc., Polymer Group Inc., PolyOne Corp., Praxair Inc., Prolong 
International Corp., Quaker Chemical Corp., Rhodia S.A., Rohm & Haas Co., 
RPM International Inc., Sherwin-Williams Co., Sico Inc., Sigma-Aldrich Corp., 
Southwall Technologies Inc., Stepan Co., Summit Environmental Corp. Inc., 
SurModics Inc., Symyx Technologies Inc., Technical Ventures Inc., Terra Nitrogen 
Co. L.P., TOR Minerals International Inc., Tredegar Corp., Tronox Inc., UAP 
Holding Corp., UFP Technologies Inc., United Energy Corp., Valspar Corp. and 
Wellman Inc.

Compared to 2006, the 2007 Group added Ashland Inc., Clean Diesel 
Technologies Inc., Ethos Environmental Inc., ICO Inc., Kronos Worldwide 
Inc., Millennium Cell Inc., New Oriental Energy & Chemical Corp., No Fire 
Technologies Inc. and O2Diesel Corp.  The 2007 Group deleted BluePhoenix 
Solutions Ltd., CPAC Inc., Delta-Omega Technologies, Inc., Donlar Biosyntrex 
Corp., Great West Gold Inc., Lesco Inc., MacDermid Inc., Mosaic Co. and PW 
Eagle Inc. With these exceptions, which resulted solely from the independent 
action of Value Line, the 2007 and 2006 Groups are identical. The Company 
will not include the Value Line Chemical Specialty Industry Group in its 
performance graph in 2008.

Performance Graph
(Unaudited)
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The Company's common stock is traded in the National Association of 
Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System (“NASDAQ”) Global Select 
Market. The trading symbol is SIAL.

Options in the Company’s common stock are traded on the Chicago Board 
Options Exchange. On January 31, 2008, there were 819 record holders of 
the Company’s common stock.

Common Stock Data (per share):

2007 Price Range 2006 Price Range Dividends 

High Low High Low 2007 2006

First Quarter $42.67 $37.77 $33.22 $31.27 $0.115 $0.105

Second Quarter 43.54 41.12 36.50 32.54 0.115 0.105

Third Quarter 49.49 42.67 38.15 33.38 0.115 0.105

Fourth Quarter 55.87 48.20 39.68 34.09 0.115 0.105

Selected Financial Data
(Unaudited)

See Management’s Discussion and Analysis related to items affecting the comparability of results and accounting changes for the financial data presented below.

Annual Financial Data (in millions, except per share data):

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Net sales $2,038.7 $1,797.5 $1,666.5 $1,409.2 $1,298.1

Net income from continuing operations 311.1 276.8 258.3 232.9 190.4

Per share: 

 Net income from continuing operations — Basic 2.38 2.08 1.90 1.69 1.35

 Net income from continuing operations — Diluted 2.34 2.05 1.88 1.67 1.34

 Dividends 0.46 0.42 0.38 0.34 0.25

Total assets 2,629.1 2,334.3 2,131.3 1,745.0 1,548.2

Long-term debt 207.0 337.9 283.2 177.1 176.3

Quarterly Financial Data (in millions, except per share data):

2007 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

Net sales $495.9 $507.5 $503.2 $532.1

Gross profit 254.4 260.5 255.9 265.2

Net income 74.9 79.7 71.6 84.9

Net income per share — Basic 0.57 0.61 0.55 0.66

Net income per share — Diluted 0.56 0.60 0.54 0.64

2006 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

Net sales $443.1 $448.5 $441.4 $464.5

Gross profit 228.8 234.5 222.7 234.2

Net income 66.5 70.3 68.4 71.6

Net income per share — Basic 0.50 0.53 0.52 0.54

Net income per share — Diluted 0.49 0.52 0.51 0.53

 
All per share and common stock information presented above prior to 2007 has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the December 2006 common stock split.
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INTRODUCTION 

Sigma-Aldrich Corporation (“the Company”) is a leading Life Science 
and High Technology company. The Company develops, manufactures, 
purchases and distributes the broadest range of high quality biochemicals 
and organic chemicals available throughout the world. These chemical 
products and kits are used in scientific and genomic research, biotechnology, 
pharmaceutical development, the diagnosis of disease and as key 
components in pharmaceutical and other high technology manufacturing. 
The Company operates in 36 countries, manufacturing 46,000 of the 
100,000 chemical products it offers. The Company also offers 30,000 
equipment products. The Company sells into nearly 160 countries, servicing 
over 80,000 accounts representing over one million individual customers.

In 2006, the Company was organized into four business units featuring the 
Research units of Essentials, Specialties and Biotech and the Fine Chemicals 
unit, SAFC, to better align the Company with the customers it serves. The 
units are closely interrelated in their activities and share services such as 
order entry, billing, tech services, Internet, purchasing and inventory control 
and share production and distribution facilities. Additionally, these units are 
supported by centralized functional areas such as finance, human resources, 
quality, safety and compliance and information technology.

Research Essentials, representing approximately 19% of sales, provides 
customized, innovative solutions for our economic buyers. Research 
Specialties, representing approximately 37% of sales, facilitates accelerated 

research by lab scientists through information and innovation in services 
and new products. Research Biotechnology, representing approximately 
15% of sales, provides innovative first-to-market products and technologies 
for the Life Science researcher. SAFC, representing approximately 29% of 
sales, drives commercial project managers’ success through rapid delivery of 
custom projects.

The Company has a broad customer base of commercial laboratories, 
pharmaceutical companies, industrial companies, universities, diagnostics 
companies, biotechnology companies, electronics companies, hospitals, 
governmental institutions and non-profit organizations located in the United 
States and internationally, and would not be significantly impacted by the 
loss of any one customer. However, economic conditions and government 
research funding in the United States and internationally do impact demand 
from our customers. In 2007, we estimate that market growth in the 
research markets served by the Company was about 3–4% and market 
growth in the fine chemicals market about 2–3%.

The Company expects organic sales growth for 2008 of approximately 7%, 
benefiting from close alignment with our customers, enhanced Internet 
capabilities, expansion in fast growing world economies and ongoing 
commitments to process improvements. Ongoing efforts to identify and 
pursue additional desirable acquisition candidates may further enhance the 
Company’s organic sales growth. 

Net Income

Years Ended December 31 2007 2006 2005

Net income before certain other items $311.1 $278.9 $252.2

 Tax claim settlement benefit — — 11.3  

 Inventory purchase accounting charge — (2.1) (10.7)

 Tax charge for repatriation of accumulated foreign earnings under the American Jobs 
    Creation Act of 2004 — — (4.1)

 Pro-forma stock-based compensation expense — — 9.6  

  Total — (2.1) 6.1

Reported net income $311.1 $276.8 $258.3

Management’s Discussion And Analysis
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

The following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes.

COMPARABILITY

The net income summaries below present the results of our operations 
before certain other items affecting our business. These summaries 
show the impact certain other items had on our net income and 
basic and diluted net income per share. The Company uses this non-
GAAP presentation of adjusted income amounts and comparisons 
to supplement its GAAP disclosures because it excludes these certain 
other items in judging its performance and believes this information 
is useful to investors as well. The Company does not, and does not 
suggest investors should, consider such non-GAAP financial measures 
in isolation from, or as a substitute for, GAAP financial information.
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES 

The Company uses certain non-GAAP financial measures to supplement 
its GAAP disclosures. The Company does not, and does not suggest 
investors should, consider such non-GAAP financial measures in isolation 
from, or as a substitute for, GAAP financial information. These non-GAAP 
measures may not be consistent with the presentation by similar companies 
in the Company’s industry. Whenever the Company uses such non-GAAP 
measures, it provides a reconciliation of such measures to the most closely 
applicable GAAP measure.

With over 60% of sales denominated in currencies other than the U.S. 
dollar, management uses currency adjusted growth, and believes it is 
useful to investors, to judge the Company’s controllable, local currency 
performance. Organic sales growth data presented herein excludes currency, 
and where indicated, acquisition impacts. While we are able to report 

currency impacts after the fact, we are unable to estimate changes that 
may occur later in 2008 to applicable exchange rates and are thus unable to 
reconcile the projected non-GAAP, currency adjusted internal growth rates 
to reported GAAP growth rates for the year 2008 as required by Regulation 
G adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Any significant 
changes in currency exchange rates would likely have a significant impact 
on our reported growth rates due to the volume of our sales denominated 
in foreign currencies.

The Company also reports both GAAP and adjusted sales and income 
amounts and comparisons to reflect what it believes is ongoing and/or 
comparable operating results excluding currency impacts and certain other 
items. The Company excludes these other items in judging its historical 
performance and in assessing its expected future performance and believes 
this non-GAAP information is useful to investors as well.

Net Income Per Share — Basic

2007 2006 2005

Net income before certain other items $2.38 $2.10 $1.86

 Tax claim settlement benefit — — 0.08 

 Inventory purchase accounting charge — (0.02) (0.08)

 Tax charge for repatriation of accumulated foreign earnings under the American Jobs 
    Creation Act of 2004 — — (0.03)

 Pro-forma stock-based compensation expense — — 0.07 

  Total — (0.02) 0.04 

Reported net income $2.38 $2.08 $1.90

Net Income Per Share — Diluted

2007 2006 2005

Net income before certain other items $2.34 $2.07 $1.84

 Tax claim settlement benefit — — 0.08 

 Inventory purchase accounting charge — (0.02) (0.08)

 Tax charge for repatriation of accumulated foreign earnings under the American Jobs 
    Creation Act of 2004 — — (0.03)

 Pro-forma stock-based compensation expense — — 0.07 

  Total — (0.02) 0.04 

Reported net income $2.34 $2.05 $1.88

The per share information presented above has been adjusted to reflect the Company’s December 2006 common stock split.

COMPARABILITY (continued)

Management’s Discussion And Analysis (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

The following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes.
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HIGHLIGHTS 

Reported sales increased 13.4% to $2,038.7 in 2007 from $1,797.5 
in 2006.  Organic sales growth, excluding currency impacts and the 
contribution from the acquisition of Epichem, Ltd. (Epichem), was 6.5% 
in 2007.  The impact of changes in currency rates increased otherwise 
reportable sales growth by 4.8%. The acquisition of Epichem in February 
2007 added 2.1% to sales growth.

Reported net income in 2007 increased 12.4% to $311.1 from $276.8 
in 2006. The increase in net income in 2007 resulted from organic sales 
growth in each of the Company’s four business units, lower selling, general 
and administrative expense levels and lower net interest costs. A higher 
effective tax rate partially offset net income improvement.     

Reported sales increased 7.9% to $1,797.5 in 2006 from $1,666.5 in 2005. 
Organic growth, including integrated acquisitions, provided 6.4 percentage 
points of growth. The February 2005 acquisition of the JRH Biosciences 
division (JRH) of CSL Limited’s industrial cell culture business added 1.1 
percentage points of sales growth. Changes in currency rates contributed 
0.4 percentage points of benefit to the sales increase. 

Reported net income in 2006 increased 7.2% to $276.8 from $258.3 
in 2005. Net income in 2006 included an $11.0 charge for stock-based 
compensation expense and an inventory purchase accounting charge 

of $2.1. On a comparable basis, net income before certain other items 
increased 10.6% to $278.9 from $252.2, adjusting 2005 for the impact 
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004), 
“Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123(R)), as if it had been implemented 
during that period and other recorded items. The increase in net income 
before certain other items primarily resulted from organic sales growth in 
each of the Company’s four business units, successful process improvement 
activities and enhanced operating margin results, partially offset by higher 
interest costs due to the full year impact of increased borrowings to fund 
acquisitions and share repurchases and higher short-term interest rates. A 
higher effective tax rate also offset net income improvement.

Diluted earnings per share in 2007 increased 14.1% to $2.34 from $2.05 
in 2006.  The increase in diluted earnings per share resulted from items 
previously identified in the discussion of net income, with additional benefits 
from share repurchase activity.

Diluted earnings per share in 2006 increased 9.0% to $2.05 from $1.88 
in 2005. Diluted earnings per share was impacted by a $0.02 charge for 
inventory purchase accounting. Diluted earnings per share before certain 
other items increased 12.5% to $2.07 from $1.84, adjusting 2005 for the 
impact of SFAS 123(R), as if it had been implemented during that period, 
and other recorded items. The significant components of the increase were 
previously identified in the discussion of net income.

Management’s Discussion And Analysis (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

The following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes.

ITEMS AFFECTING COMPARABILITY OF RESULTS

• During 2007, the Company acquired two businesses with an aggregate 
annual sales benefit of approximately $52.0.

• In November 2006, the Board of Directors authorized a two-for-one 
stock split effected in the form of a 100 percent stock dividend to 
shareholders of record on December 15, 2006. Shareholders of record 
received an additional share on January 2, 2007 for each share they 
owned. The par value of the Company’s common stock remains $1.00 
per share. The stock split is reflected in the Consolidated Statements 
of Stockholders’ Equity as a reclassification from Retained Earnings to 
Common Stock. Except as otherwise noted, all share and per share 
information presented prior to 2007 herein has been retroactively 
adjusted to reflect the common stock split.

• The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 123(R), as required, on 
January 1, 2006. As a result, selling, general and administrative expenses 
include stock-based compensation of $19.0 and $13.3 in 2007 and 
2006, respectively. Stock-based compensation expense is not reflected in 
the consolidated financial statements for years prior to 2006.

• During 2006, the Company acquired four businesses with an aggregate 
annual sales benefit of approximately $25.0.

• On April 1, 2005, the Company purchased the Proligo Group (Proligo).

• On February 28, 2005, the Company purchased JRH Biosciences division 
from CSL Limited.

• At December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, the Company had 
repurchased 84.0 million, 80.0 million and 76.0 million of its 
outstanding shares, respectively.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires 
management to use judgment in making estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the years presented. Actual results could differ from those estimates under 
different assumptions or conditions.

The following accounting policies are based on, among other things, 
judgments and assumptions made by management that include inherent 
risks and uncertainties. Management’s estimates are based on the relevant 
information available at the end of each period.

Inventories  Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The 
Company regularly reviews inventories on hand and records a provision 
for slow-moving and obsolete inventory, inventory not meeting quality 
standards and inventory subject to expiration. The provision for slow-moving 
and obsolete inventory is based on current estimates of future product 
demand, market conditions and related management initiatives. Any 
significant unanticipated changes in future product demand or market 
conditions that vary from current expectations could have an impact on the 
value of inventories.

Long-Lived Assets  Long-lived assets, including intangibles with definite 
lives, are amortized over their expected useful lives. Goodwill and other 
intangibles with indefinite lives are not amortized against earnings. 
Goodwill is assessed annually for impairment. Other intangibles are assessed 
whenever events and changes in business conditions indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable. If impairment is 
indicated, the asset value is written down to its fair market value.

Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits  The determination of 
the obligation and expense for pension and other post-retirement benefits 
is dependent on the Company’s selection of certain assumptions used by 
actuaries to calculate such amounts. Those assumptions are described 
in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and include, among 
others, the discount rates, expected return on plan assets and rates of 
increase in compensation and health care costs. 

In accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, actual 
results that differ from the assumptions are accumulated and amortized 
over future periods and therefore, generally affect the recognized expense 
and recorded obligation in such future periods. While the Company 
believes that the assumptions are appropriate, significant differences in 
actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materially 
affect the Company’s pension and other post-retirement benefit obligations 

and the Company’s future expense. A 1% increase in the discount rate 
assumption would have reduced the net periodic benefit cost by $0.7 for 
the U.S. plans and $4.1 for the International plans. A 1% reduction in the 
discount rate assumption would have increased the net periodic benefit 
cost by $0.7 for the U.S. plans and $5.5 for the International plans. A 1% 
change in the expected return on plan assets would have an impact on the 
Company’s pension expense of $2.4 for the Company's plans.

Stock Options  The Company accounts for stock-based compensation 
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 
(Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123(R)). Under the provisions 
of SFAS 123(R), stock-based compensation cost, for stock options, is 
estimated at the grant date based on the award’s fair value as calculated by 
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is recognized as expense ratably 
over the requisite service period. The Black-Scholes model requires the 
input of various estimates including volatility, forfeiture rates and expected 
option life. Those inputs to the Black-Scholes model are described in Note 
12 to the consolidated financial statements. If any of the assumptions used 
in the Black-Scholes model vary significantly from current expectations, 
stock-based compensation expense may also change significantly. Therefore, 
current year stock-based compensation expense is not necessarily indicative 
of future results.

Taxes  The Company operates within multiple taxing jurisdictions and is 
subject to audit in these jurisdictions. These audits can involve complex 
issues, which may require an extended period of time to resolve. The 
Company regularly reviews its potential tax liabilities for tax years subject 
to audit. Changes in the Company’s tax provision and liability occurred 
in 2007, 2006 and 2005 and may occur in the future as its assessments 
change based on the progress of tax examinations in various jurisdictions 
and/or changes in worldwide tax regulations. In management’s opinion, 
adequate provisions for income taxes have been made for all years 
presented.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax benefits 
or liabilities attributable to differences between the consolidated financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using 
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which 
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The 
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates would 
be recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. 
The Company regularly reviews its deferred tax assets for recoverability and 
establishes a valuation allowance when it believes that such assets may 
not be recovered, taking into consideration historical operating results, 
expectations of future earnings, changes in its operations and the expected 
timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences.

Management’s Discussion And Analysis (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

The following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes.
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  OPERATING RESULTS 
Sales  In 2006, the Company was organized into four 
business units featuring the Research units of Essentials, 
Specialties and Biotech and the Fine Chemicals unit, 
SAFC, to better align the Company with the customers 
it serves. Prior to 2006, the Company consisted of 
three business units: Scientific Research, Biotechnology 
(collectively “Research Chemicals”) and SAFC. In both 
cases, the business unit structure is the Company's 
approach to serving customers and reporting sales rather 

than an internal division used to allocate resources. Accordingly, as it would 
provide minimal value, the Company did not restate sales prior to 2005 into 
the new four business unit structure. As a result, sales growth rates in 2005 
are presented for total Research Chemicals only and SAFC.

Sales increased 13.4%, 7.9%, and 18.3% in 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively. Sales increases were primarily attributable to improved unit 
volume growth, price increases, acquisitions and currency benefits. The 
Company’s pricing strategy has remained constant and price increases in 
2007 provided similar contributions to those realized in prior periods. New 
product sales, while not material in the year introduced, do contribute to 
sales growth in subsequent years. The effect of translating foreign currency 
sales into U.S. dollars increased the 2007, 2006 and 2005 sales growth by 
4.8%, 0.4% and 0.7%, respectively. With over 60% of sales denominated 
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, the Company uses currency adjusted 
growth, and believes it is useful to investors, to judge the Company's 
controllable, local currency performance. The Company does not, and does 
not suggest investors should, consider such non-GAAP financial measures in 
isolation from, or as a substitute for, GAAP financial information.

Reported sales growth, currency benefits, sales increases from the 
acquisitions of JRH's industrial cell culture business and Epichem and the 
adjusted sales changes are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2007

Reported
Currency 
Benefit Acquisition Adjusted

Research Essentials 9.2% 4.6% —% 4.6%
Research Specialties 13.6% 5.3% —% 8.3%

Research Biotech 8.1% 4.4% —% 3.7%

Research Chemicals 11.2% 4.9% —% 6.3%

SAFC 19.1% 4.4% 7.6% 7.1%

 Total 13.4% 4.8% 2.1% 6.5%

Year Ended December 31, 2006

Reported
Currency 
Benefit Acquisition Adjusted

Research Essentials 4.2% 0.4% —% 3.8%

Research Specialties 6.9% 0.4% —% 6.5%

Research Biotech 5.6% —% —% 5.6%

Research Chemicals 5.9% 0.3% —% 5.6%

SAFC 13.4% 0.7% 4.3% 8.4%

 Total 7.9% 0.4% 1.1% 6.4%

Year Ended December 31, 2005

Reported
Currency 
Benefit Acquisition Adjusted

Research Chemicals 7.3% 0.8% —% 6.5%

SAFC 66.2% 0.6% 50.4% 15.2%

 Total 18.3% 0.7% 9.4% 8.2%

Currency and acquisition adjusted sales growth in Research Essentials, 
Research Specialties, Research Biotech and SAFC for 2007 was 4.6%, 
8.3%, 3.7% and 7.1%, respectively.  Research Essentials’ sales growth was 
due to strong demand in all customer segments and all geographies, with 
particularly strong growth in the industrial and pharmaceutical customer 
segments and the cell culture and lab essentials product initiatives.  
Research Specialties delivered sales growth that beat long-term expectations 
fueled by increased sales to pharmaceutical and academic accounts in 
Europe, the U.S. and CAPLA (Canada, Asia Pacific and Latin America). 
Better product availability from intentional inventory increases and new 
supplier relationships in CAPLA markets continued to fuel double-digit 
organic growth in CAPLA. Customer-centric marketing programs aimed at 
serving pharmaceutical customers and their contract research organizations 
wherever located around the globe continued to gain traction. Research 
Biotech growth was driven by strong spending by academic customers 
in Europe and by growth in molecular biology and peptide products in 
both the U.S. and Europe in the latter part of the year.  2007 growth was 
impacted by softness in demand for synthetic DNA products. The addition 
of sales specialists and ongoing expansion of product offerings through 
internal development and technology licenses contributed to resurgent 
growth during the last half of 2007. Hitech products, including sales from 
Epichem, helped SAFC drive double-digit growth with commercial and 
industrial customers in European and CAPLA markets.  Strong sales to 
pharmaceutical customers in the U.S. also contributed to this unit’s growth.  
Demand for industrial cell culture products declined during the second half 
of 2007.

Currency and acquisition adjusted sales growth in Research Essentials, 
Research Specialties, Research Biotech and SAFC for 2006 was 3.8%, 
6.5%, 5.6% and 8.4%, respectively. Research Essentials achieved sales 
gains in all major geographical areas due to price increases and higher unit 
sales volume to academic and commercial customer segments. Research 
Specialties achieved sales gains from increased pricing and higher unit 
volumes due to increased sales to commercial and pharmaceutical customer 
groups and continued emphasis on offering the broadest range of core 
products for analytical applications, chemical synthesis and fundamental 
Life Science research. Research Biotech sales growth was impacted by a 
modest reduction in market growth in 2006, together with slower than 
anticipated acceptance of new and innovative products for our Research 
Biotech customers. Currency and acquisition adjusted sales growth in SAFC 
for 2006 was 8.4% compared to 15.2% for 2005. The 2006 sales growth 
rate reflected increased demand from pharmaceutical customers and other 
manufacturers. 

Our goal to accelerate growth in our non-European international markets 
was achieved, increasing sales in these markets to approximately 20% of 
total sales during 2007. Our focus countries of China, India and Brazil all 
achieved reported sales growth in a range from approximately 35% to 
50% in 2007. Our initiative to build on our Internet superiority continued 
to drive sales growth. Web based sales increased to 40% of total Research 
based sales in 2007. Other initiatives also showed progress in 2007 with 
continued benefits from process improvement and growth added through 
acquisitions. 

Sales
(millions of dollars)

1,666.5
1,797.5

2,038.7

'07 '06 '05

Management’s Discussion And Analysis (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

The following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes.
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Management’s Discussion And Analysis (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

The following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes.

OPERATING RESULTS (continued) 

Gross Profit  Gross profit was 50.8%, 51.2% and 50.9% of sales in 2007, 
2006 and 2005, respectively. The following table reflects 
the significant contributing factors to the net change in 
gross profit margin for the years ended December 31, 
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, as a percentage of 
sales compared to the same period in the prior year: 

Year Ended December 31, 

Contributing Factors 2007 2006 2005

Inventory purchase accounting charges  0.2 %  0.9 %  (1.0)%
Unfavorable product mix  —  (0.7)  (1.9)
Favorable pricing  0.6  0.7  0.4   
Higher unit sales volume  0.6  0.8  3.4 
Higher manufacturing and distribution costs  (1.8)  (1.8)  (1.2)
Lower margin acquired business1  (0.7)  —  (2.7)
Favorable/(unfavorable) currency impact  1.1  (0.3)  0.7 
Other impacts  (0.4)  0.7  (0.1)
Net (decline)/improvement in gross margin 
as a percentage of sales (0.4)% 0.3 % (2.4)%

1 Relates to significant acquired business, in the year acquired. 2007 impact relates to 
Epichem. 2005 activity relates to JRH.

The decrease in gross profit as a percent of sales of 0.4% in 2007 is 
primarily due to higher manufacturing and distribution costs partially offset 
by favorable pricing, and increased unit sales volume and favorable currency 
benefits.  There was also downward pressure on gross margin from lower 
margin acquired business in 2007.

The increase in gross profit as a percent of sales of 0.3% in 2006 is 
primarily due to the absence of the inventory purchase accounting charge, 
favorable pricing and unit volume increases. These improvements were 
partially offset by higher manufacturing and distribution costs and the 
impact of lower gross margin products for our SAFC business as reflected in 
product mix. 

The decrease in gross profit as a percent of sales of 2.4% in 2005 is 
primarily due to the impact of the inventory purchase accounting charge 
and lower average gross margins associated with SAFC’s acquisition of JRH. 
Increased manufacturing and distribution costs further reduced 2005 gross 
profit. This decrease in gross profit as a percent of sales was partially offset 
by an increase in unit sales volume, an increase in average sales prices and 
currency benefits.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses  Selling, general and 
administrative expenses were 25.4%, 25.8% and 
26.2% of sales in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 
Insurance expense decreased by 0.6% of sales in 
2007 as compared to 2006 as a result of decreased 
claims activity and other recoveries.  No other expense 
category was individually significant as a percent of 
sales. Salaries and benefits increased 0.5% of sales for 
2006 compared to 2005 due largely to the impact of 
stock-based compensation expense. Insurance expenses 
also increased 0.3% of sales for 2006 compared to 2005 

due to higher claim costs. These increases were more than offset by declines 
in professional fees, advertising and non-product related compliance costs 
and from process improvement benefits that collectively reduced selling, 
general and administrative expenses by 1.2% of sales. 

Research and Development Expenses  Research and development 
expenses were 2.9%, 2.9% and 3.0% of sales in 2007, 2006 and 2005, 

respectively. The research and development expenses relate primarily to efforts 
to add new manufactured products. All manufactured products currently 
account for approximately 60% of total sales.

Interest Expense, Net  Net interest expense reduced pretax earnings 
by $22.0, $24.0 and $18.1 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Lower 
interest rates during 2007 and shifting debt from higher rate to lower rate 
world areas reduced net interest expense, even with consistently higher 
debt levels during 2007 as compared to 2006. The increase in net interest 
expense in 2006 from 2005 reflects the impact of increased interest costs 
from borrowings for both acquisitions and share repurchases in 2006 and 
2005 and higher short-term interest rates in 2006.  

Income Taxes  Income taxes, which include federal, state and international 
taxes were 28.9%, 26.9% and 24.8% of pretax income in 2007, 2006 and 
2005, respectively. The higher effective tax rate for the full year of 2007 
compared to the same period in 2006 reflects the absence of a net benefit 
from audit activity in 2007 and expiring U.S. export tax benefits in 2006, 
partially offset by an increase in the U.S. manufacturing deduction and 
reduced international taxes in 2007. The higher effective tax rate for 2006 of 
26.9% compared to the same period in 2005 largely reflects a lower level of 
international tax benefits, partially offset by the absence of the tax charge 
to repatriate accumulated foreign earnings in 2005. 

Our effective tax rate for 2008 is expected to increase to a range of 30% to 
32% due to a higher net international tax level due to a large 2007 benefit 
from changes in our international organization and the expiration of the 
U.S. R&D tax credit.  Reinstatement of the U.S. R&D credit currently being 
considered by the U.S. Congress would likely drive the tax rate for 2008 to 
the lower end of the 30-32% range.

Accounting Changes  In September 2006, the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS 157).  SFAS 157 establishes a 
common definition of fair value for financial instruments, sets a framework 
for measuring fair value and expands disclosure about such fair value 
measurements.  This Statement applies only to fair value measurements 
that are already required or permitted by other accounting standards 
and is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The 
Company currently discloses fair value information, in Notes 7 and 8 to its 
consolidated financial statements.  The adoption of SFAS 157 in January 
2008 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and 
Other Postretirement Plans” (SFAS 158). SFAS 158 requires companies to 
recognize, on a prospective basis, the funded status of their defined benefit 
pension and other post-retirement benefit plans in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets and recognize as a component of other comprehensive income, net of 
tax, the gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that arise during the 
period but are not recognized as components of net periodic benefit costs. 
SFAS 158 also requires additional disclosures in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements and requires the use of a company’s fiscal year-end as 
the measurement date for plan assets and benefit obligations, eliminating 
the use of earlier measurement dates that are currently permissible. The 
Company adopted all provisions of SFAS 158 as of December 31, 2006, 
except the measurement date requirement. The net impact of applying SFAS 
158 on the Company’s 2006 consolidated financial statements was a $31.7 
reduction of stockholders’ equity. The new measurement date requirement is 
not effective until fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008. The Company 
is in the process of assessing the impact of the SFAS 158 measurement date 
requirement on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities – Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115” (SFAS 
159).  SFAS 159 provides companies with an option to measure certain

Gross Profit
(percent of sales)

50.8 51.2 50.9

'07 '06 '05

Selling, General and
Administrative Expenses
(percent of sales)

26.225.825.4

'07 '06 '05
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Management’s Discussion And Analysis (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

The following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes.

OPERATING RESULTS (continued) 

financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not 
currently required to be measured at fair value.  SFAS 159 is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007.  The adoption of SFAS 159 
in January 2008 is not expected to have a significant impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

In June 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus 
on EITF Issue No. 07-3, “Accounting for Advance Payments for Goods or 
Services to Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities” (EITF 
07-3).  Under EITF 07-3, non-refundable advance payments to acquire 
goods or pay for services that will be consumed or performed in future 
periods in conducting research and development activities on behalf of 
an entity should be capitalized as an asset when the payments are made, 
and recognized as an expense as the research and development activities 
are performed.  The consensus is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2007, and should be applied to contractual arrangements 
entered beginning January 1, 2008.  The adoption of EITF 07-3 in January 
2008 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” (SFAS 141(R)). 

SFAS 141(R) establishes principles and requirements for how an acquiring 
entity recognizes and measures in its financial statements the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed.  SFAS 141(R) also establishes disclosure 
requirements to enable the evaluation of the nature and financial effects of 
the business combination. SFAS 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2008, and will be applied prospectively to acquisitions 
beginning January 1, 2009. The Company is in the process of assessing the 
impact of SFAS 141(R) on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 07-1, 
“Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements” (EITF 07-1).  EITF 07-1 
addresses the accounting for activities of collaborative arrangements outside 
of an established separate legal entity, such as those to jointly develop and 
commercialize intellectual property.  Under EITF 07-1, revenues and costs 
incurred with third parties in connection with the collaborative arrangement 
should be presented gross or net based on the criteria in EITF Issue No. 
99-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as Principal versus Net as an Agent” and 
other applicable accounting literature.  The consensus is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2008, and will be applied to using a 
retrospective method that requires reclassification in all periods presented 
for those arrangements still in effect at January 1, 2009.  The Company is 
in the process of assessing the impact of EITF 07-1 on its consolidated 
financial statements. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company’s cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities, 
as reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, are summarized 
in the following table: 

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $419.1 $330.4 $280.5 

Investing activities (151.1) (104.4) (513.2)

Financing activities (212.0) (156.2) 171.1 

Operating Activities  Net cash provided by operations increased $88.7 
or 26.8% in 2007 compared to 2006. The increase relates primarily to 
higher net income from operations, including the $19.0 non-cash impact of 
stock-based compensation expense. The most significant offset to operating 
cash inflows was the impact of higher inventory balances at December 31, 
2007 as compared to 2006 when high accounts receivable balances were 
the significant impact. Higher inventory balances are due to international 
inventory increases to improve service to customers in CAPLA markets. Income 
taxes paid in 2007 were impacted by the timing of international payments 
resulting in an increase in accrued income taxes at December 31, 2007.  

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $49.9 in 2006 compared 
to 2005. This increase results primarily from increased net income from 
operations, including the $13.3 non-cash impact of stock-based compensation 
expense and net increases in accounts payable and accrued expenses. The 
most significant offset to the operating cash inflows was higher accounts 
receivable balances at December 31, 2006. The increased accounts receivable 
balance was due largely to the strong growth in non-European international 
sales where average days sales outstanding for all countries in this group 
typically range from 60 to 65 days. Operating inflows were also partially 
offset by increases in inventory levels, due to an increase in stocks added at 
major U.S. distribution locations to improve on-time deliveries and a modest 
amount of acquired inventory from 2006 acquisitions. 

Investing Activities  2007 investing activities were focused on capital 
expenditures for upgrading our web site to improve the customer experience, 
continuing to expand our business systems utilizing SAP software, and 

providing incremental production capacity for material science and 
pharmaceutical customers.  These activities are included in the $79.7 of 
capital expenditures in 2007.  Acquisitions used another $67.6 of cash 
in 2007.  

In 2006, investing activities were focused on capital expenditures of $74.5 
and the funding of four small acquisitions for $20.0. Capital expenditures 
included the construction of a new production facility in India and the 
expansion of production facilities in Wisconsin and Missouri. Additional 
capital was invested to expand distribution in Wisconsin and for upgrading 
our Internet ordering systems.

During 2008, capital spending is expected to be approximately $115.

Financing Activities  In 2007, financing cash outflows included the 
repayment of long-term debt of $69.7 and payment of dividends of $60.0.  
The most significant outflow was for the purchase of treasury stock at 
$184.3.  Cash inflows were received from the exercise of stock options and 
the issuance of short-term debt.  

In 2006, the Company’s financing activities used cash of $156.2. Cash 
used in the payment of dividends was $55.7. Cash paid for treasury stock 
purchases was $138.2. Cash was provided by the issuance of short-term 
debt, net of repayments, of $45.3. Long-term debt of $100.0 was issued in 
2006 offset by repayments of long-term debt of $142.8. Cash received from 
the exercise of stock options were $30.9.

In March 2007, the Company entered into a $200.0 seven-year multi-
currency European revolving credit facility with a syndicate of banks having 
a maturity date of March 13, 2014.  Borrowings of $56.5 were outstanding 
at December 31, 2007. 

In December 2006, the Company entered into a $300.0 five-year credit 
facility with a syndicate of banks having a maturity date of December 11, 
2011. In October 2007, the Company exercised the option in the facility to 
extend the facility for one year to December 11, 2012. The facility provides 
back-up liquidity to the commercial paper program. The Company had 
commercial paper outstanding of $171.2 and $146.0 at December 31, 
2007 and 2006, respectively.

In December 2006, the Company issued $100.0 of 5.11% Senior Notes due 
December 5, 2011 to a private investor. In November 2006, the Company 
paid the $75.0 of 5.16% Senior Notes at maturity.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued)

Long-term debt at December 31, 2007 was $207.0 compared to $337.9 
in 2006. Total debt as a percentage of total capitalization was 25.0% and 
27.2% at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

For a description of the Company's material debt covenants, see Notes 6 
and 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share Repurchases  At December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, 
the Company had repurchased a total of 84.0 million shares and 80.0 
million shares, respectively. During 2006, the Company was authorized to 
increase its share repurchase from 80.0 million to 90.0 million shares to be 
completed within three years of the authorization. There were 129.4 million 
shares outstanding as of December 31, 2007. The Company expects to 
acquire the remaining 6.0 million authorized shares, however, the timing of 
the repurchases and number of shares repurchased, if any, will depend upon 
market conditions and other factors.

Liquidity and Risk Management  Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the 
Company might be unable to meet potential cash outflows promptly and 
cost effectively. Factors that could cause such risk to arise might be disruption 
to the securities market, downgrades in the Company’s credit rating or 
the unavailability of funds. In addition to the Company’s cash flows from 
operations, the Company utilizes commercial paper, its credit facilities and 
long-term debt as funding sources. The Company maintains committed bank 
lines of credit to support its commercial paper borrowings, term loans and 
local bank lines of credit to support international operations. Downgrades 
in the Company’s credit rating or other limitations on the ability to access 
short-term financing, including the ability to refinance short-term debt as it 
becomes due, would increase interest costs and adversely affect profitability.

Management believes that the Company’s financial condition is such that internal 
and external resources are sufficient and available to satisfy the Company’s 
requirements for debt service, capital expenditures, acquisitions, dividends, 
share repurchases and working capital presently and for the next 12 months.

Management’s Discussion And Analysis (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

The following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes.

INFLATION 

Management recognizes that inflationary pressures may have an adverse 
effect on the Company through higher asset replacement costs and higher 
material and other operating costs. The Company tries to minimize these 

effects through cost reductions and productivity improvements as well as 
price increases to maintain reasonable profit margins. It is management’s 
view, however, that inflation has not had a significant impact on operations 
in the three years ended December 31, 2007.

OTHER MATTERS 

The Company is involved in legal proceedings generally incidental to its 
business, as described below:

Insurance and Other Contingent Liabilities and Commitments  The 
Company is a defendant in several lawsuits and claims related to the normal 
conduct of its business, including lawsuits and claims related to product 
liability and personal injury matters. The Company accrues for such liabilities 
when it is probable that future costs (including legal fees and expenses) will 
be incurred and such costs can be reasonably estimated. The Company has 
self-insured retention limits and has obtained insurance to provide coverage 
above the self-insured limits for product liability and personal injury claims, 
subject to certain limitations and exclusions. Reserves have been provided to 
cover expected payments for these self-insured amounts at December 31, 
2007 and 2006. 

In one group of lawsuits and claims, the Company, as well as others engaged 
in manufacturing and distributing similar products, is a defendant in multiple 
claims alleging injuries from exposure to various chemicals by a limited number 
of employees of one electronics manufacturer. These claims have been filed 
in three states. A global settlement has been reached for all cases, which will 
be submitted to the court for approval. The settlement is not significant to 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In another group of lawsuits and claims, the Company provided a product 
for use in research activities in developing various vaccines at pharmaceutical 
companies. The Company, together with other manufacturers and distributors 
offering the same product and several pharmaceutical companies, has been 
named as a defendant and served in 294 lawsuits, of which 56 lawsuits 
have been dismissed to date. Several of the outstanding suits have been 
stayed by various state and federal courts pending a decision on coverage 
available under a federal government relief program. No definite date has 
been set for this decision.

In all cases, the Company believes its products in question were restricted to 
research use and that proper information for safe use of the products was 
provided to the customer.

A class action complaint was filed against a subsidiary of the Company 
in the Montgomery County, Ohio Court of Common Pleas related to a 

2003 explosion in a column at the Company’s Isotec facility in Miamisburg, 
Ohio. The case was separated into the following four phases: phase one 
– existence of liability, phase two – quantification of any compensatory 
damages, phase three – existence of any punitive damages and phase four 
– quantification of any punitive damages. Class certification was granted 
to phases one, three and four, but denied to phase two. Compensatory 
damages for all plaintiffs must be established before the case can 
proceed to the punitive damages phases. The Company has accepted 
responsibility for phase one, existence of liability. The case is currently in the 
compensatory damages phase, where, because no class status exists, each 
plaintiff must individually establish actual damages. The initial phase two, 
compensatory damages trial, for 31 plaintiffs was completed on April 27, 
2007 with a jury verdict establishing actual damages of approximately two 
hundred dollars per plaintiff. The plaintiffs filed an appeal staying further 
action on the case until the appeal has been resolved. The original appeal 
has been dismissed, but the plaintiffs are in the process of refiling their 
appeal. The Company continues to believe it has substantial legal defenses 
to the allegations, which it will vigorously assert. 

The Company believes its reserves and insurance are sufficient to provide 
for claims outstanding at December 31, 2007. While the outcome of the 
current claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the possible outcome of 
the claims is reviewed at least quarterly and reserves adjusted as deemed 
appropriate based on these reviews. Based on current information available, 
the Company believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not 
have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial condition, results 
of operations or liquidity. Future claims related to the use of these categories 
of products may not be covered in full by the Company’s insurance program.

At December 31, 2007, there were no other known contingent liabilities 
that management believes could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s consolidated financial condition or results of operations, nor 
were there any material commitments outside of the normal course of 
business. Material commitments in the normal course of business include 
notes payable, long-term debt, lease commitments and pension and other 
post-retirement benefit obligations which are disclosed in Note 6, Note 7, 
Note 9 and Note 14, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2007.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis and other sections of this Annual 
Report to shareholders should be read in conjunction with the consolidated 
financial statements and notes thereto. Except for historical information, 
the statements in this discussion may constitute forward-looking statements 
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that involve risk and 
uncertainty, including financial, business environment and projections, as 
well as statements that are preceded by, followed by, or that include the 
words “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “should” or similar expressions, 
and other statements contained herein regarding matters that are not 
historical facts. Additionally, this  Annual Report to shareholders contains 
forward-looking statements relating to future performance, goals, strategic 
actions and initiatives and similar intentions and beliefs, including without 
limitation, statements regarding the Company’s expectations, goals, 
beliefs, intentions and the like regarding future sales, earnings, return 
on equity, share repurchases, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other 
matters. These statements involve assumptions regarding the Company 
operations, investments, acquisitions and conditions in the markets the 
Company serves. Although the Company believes its expectations are 
based on reasonable assumptions, such statements are subject to risks 

and uncertainties, including, among others, certain economic, political 
and technological factors. Actual results could differ materially from those 
stated or implied in this Annual Report to shareholders, due to, but not 
limited to, such factors as (1) changes in pricing and the competitive 
environment, (2) fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, (3) 
dependence on uninterrupted manufacturing operations, (4) changes in 
the regulatory environment in which the Company operates, (5) changes 
in worldwide tax rates or tax benefits from domestic and international 
operations, including the matters described in Note 10 - Income Taxes to 
the consolidated financial statements (6) exposure to litigation including 
product liability claims, (7) changes in research funding and the success of 
research and development activities, (8) the ability to maintain adequate 
quality standards, (9) reliance on third party package delivery services, 
(10) the impact of acquisitions and success in integrating and obtaining 
projected results from the acquisitions, (11) other changes in the business 
environment in which the Company operates and (12) the outcome of the 
matters described in Note 11 — Contingent Liabilities and Commitments to 
the consolidated financial statements. A further discussion of the Company’s 
risk factors can be found in Item 1A of the Company’s December 31, 2007 
Form 10-K. The Company does not undertake any obligation to update 
these forward-looking statements.

AGGREGATE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

The following table represents contractual obligations of the Company at December 31, 2007:

Payments due by period

Contractual Obligations Total
Less than

1 year 1–3 years 3–5 years
More than 

5 years

Long-term debt $297.0 $  90.0 $107.0 $100.0 —

Interest payments related to long-term debt 42.0 13.9 23.4 4.7 —

Operating lease obligations 114.4 33.3 46.8 24.0 10.3

Purchase obligations 165.2 75.7 33.6 34.2 21.7

Total $618.6 $212.9 $210.8 $162.9 $32.0

See Notes 7 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements for additional disclosures related to long-term debt and lease commitments, respectively. 
See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for the Company’s obligations with respect to its pension and post-retirement medical benefit plans.

Management’s Discussion And Analysis (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

The following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes.

MARKET RISK SENSITIVE INSTRUMENTS AND POSITIONS 

The market risk inherent in the Company’s financial instruments and 
positions represents the potential loss arising from adverse changes in 
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates.

Interest Rates  At December 31, 2007, the Company’s outstanding debt 
represents 25.0% of total capitalization. Approximately 38.5% of the 
Company’s outstanding debt at December 31, 2007 is at a fixed rate. Cash 
flows from operations and available credit facilities are sufficient to meet 
the working capital requirements of the Company. It is management's view 
that market risk or variable interest rate risk will not significantly impact the 
Company's results of operations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rates  The functional currency of the 
Company’s international subsidiaries is generally the dominant currency in 
the respective country of residence of the subsidiary. The translation from 
the functional currencies to the U.S. dollar for revenues and expenses is 
based on the average exchange rate during the period. Large increases or 
decreases in the spread between currencies have affected and may continue 
to affect the Company’s revenues, revenue growth rates, gross margins and 
net income.

The Company transacts business in many parts of the world and is subject 
to risks associated with changing foreign currency exchange rates. The 
Company’s objective is to minimize the impact of foreign currency exchange 
rate changes during the period of time between the original transaction 
date and its cash settlement. Accordingly, the Company uses forward 
exchange contracts to stabilize the value of certain receivables and payables 
denominated in foreign currencies. Most of the contracts are single 
currency. Gains and losses on these contracts, based on the difference in the 
contract rate and the spot rate at the end of each month for all contracts 
still in force, are typically offset either partially or completely by transaction 
gains and losses, with any net gains and losses included in selling, general 
and administrative expenses. The market risk of foreign currency rate 
changes represents the potential loss in fair value of net currency positions 
at year-end due to an adverse change in foreign currency exchange rates. 
The Company does not enter into foreign currency contracts for speculative 
trading purposes. The Company’s policy is to manage the risks associated 
with existing receivables, payables and commitments.

The market risk of the Company’s foreign currency positions at December 
31, 2007, assuming a hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency 
exchange rates, would be less than $4.5.
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Years ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Net sales $2,038.7 $1,797.5 $1,666.5

 Cost of products sold 1,002.7 877.3 818.0

Gross profit 1,036.0 920.2 848.5

 Selling, general and administrative expenses 517.1 464.6 437.3

 Research and development expenses 59.3 52.9 49.8

 Interest, net 22.0 24.0 18.1

Income before income taxes 437.6 378.7 343.3

 Provision for income taxes 126.5 101.9 85.0

Net income $   311.1 $   276.8 $   258.3

Weighted average number of shares outstanding — Basic 130.6 132.9 135.8

Weighted average number of shares outstanding — Diluted 133.1 134.9 137.5

Net income per share — Basic $2.38 $2.08 $1.90

Net income per share — Diluted $2.34 $2.05 $1.88

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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December 31,

2007 2006

ASSETS

Current assets:

 Cash and cash equivalents $     237.6 $     173.8

 Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $4.4 and $4.7, respectively 276.3 248.0

 Inventories 653.6 596.0

 Deferred taxes 57.7 49.6

 Other current assets 57.3 45.5

  Total current assets 1,282.5 1,112.9

Property, plant and equipment:

 Land 51.8 47.1

 Buildings and improvements 663.8 612.9

 Machinery and equipment 734.8 681.0

 Construction in progress 44.9 33.6

 Less — accumulated depreciation (813.8) (729.5)

  Property, plant and equipment, net 681.5 645.1

Goodwill, net 420.3 361.3

Intangibles, net 136.9 126.0

Other assets 107.9 89.0

Total assets $2,629.1 $2,334.3

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

 Note payable and current maturities of long-term debt $   331.3 $   189.0

 Accounts payable 131.0 97.2

 Accrued payroll and payroll taxes 55.0 47.4

 Accrued income taxes 47.1 48.6

 Other accrued expenses 70.6 60.4

  Total current liabilities 635.0 442.6

Long-term debt 207.0 337.9

Deferred post-retirement benefits 36.9 38.5

Deferred taxes 42.3 48.1

Other liabilities 91.3 56.3

  Total liabilities 1,012.5 923.4

Stockholders' equity:

 Common stock, $1.00 par value; 300.0 shares authorized; 201.8 shares issued at 
  December 31, 2007 and 2006; 129.4 and 132.0 shares outstanding at December 
  31, 2007 and 2006, respectively 201.8 201.8

 Capital in excess of par value 109.7 79.1

 Common stock in treasury, at cost, 72.4 and 69.8 shares at December 31, 2007 
  and 2006, respectively (1,534.1) (1,375.4)

 Retained earnings 2,679.3 2,424.7

 Accumulated other comprehensive income 159.9 80.7

  Total stockholders' equity 1,616.6 1,410.9

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $2,629.1 $2,334.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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Common 
Stock

Capital in 
Excess of 
Par Value

Common Stock 
in Treasury

Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive
Income/(Loss)

Total 
Stockholders' 

Equity
Comprehensive 

Income

Balance, December 31, 2004 $100.9 $52.6 $(1,163.1) $2,097.5 $123.8 $1,211.7
Net income — — — 258.3 — 258.3 $258.3
Oth er comprehensive loss —

foreign currency translation — — — — (96.6) (96.6) (96.6)
Minimum pension liability — — — — 5.5 5.5 5.5
Unrealized gain on securities, net — — — — 0.7 0.7 0.7
Comprehensive income — — — — — — $167.9
Dividends ($.76 per share) — — — (51.3) — (51.3)
Shares exchanged for stock options — (0.2) — — — (0.2)
Exercise of stock options — 5.8 18.1 — — 23.9
Restricted stock grant — 0.8 — — — 0.8
Stock repurchases — — (119.4) — — (119.4)

Balance, December 31, 2005 100.9 59.0 (1,264.4) 2,304.5  33.4 1,233.4
Net income — — — 276.8 — 276.8 $276.8
Oth er comprehensive income —

foreign currency translation — — — — 75.6 75.6 75.6
Unrealized gain on securities, net — — — — 3.4 3.4 3.4
Comprehensive income — — — — — — $355.8
Adj ustment to initially apply Statement 

of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 158, net of tax — — — — (31.7) (31.7)

Dividends ($.84 per share) — — — (55.7) — (55.7)
Shares exchanged for stock options — (1.7) — — — (1.7)
Exercise of stock options — 11.2 25.6 — — 36.8
Restricted stock grant — (0.4) 1.6 — — 1.2
Stock-based compensation expense — 11.0 — — — 11.0

Stock repurchases — — (138.2) — — (138.2)
Common stock split 100.9 — — (100.9) — —
Balance, December 31, 2006 201.8 79.1 (1,375.4) 2,424.7 80.7 1,410.9
Net income — — — 311.1 — 311.1 $311.1
Oth er comprehensive income —

foreign currency translation — — — — 71.5 71.5 71.5
Pension and Post Retirement — — — — 8.4 8.4 8.4
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities, net — — — — (0.7) (0.7) (0.7)
Comprehensive income — — — — — — $390.3
Dividends ($.46 per share) — — — (60.0) — (60.0)
Shares exchanged for stock options — (0.9) — — — (0.9)

Exercise of stock options — 17.3 24.0 — — 41.3
Restricted stock grant — 0.7 1.6 — — 2.3
Stock-based compensation expense — 13.5 — — — 13.5

Stock repurchases — — (184.3) — — (184.3)

Adj ustment to initially apply FIN 48 — — — 3.5 — 3.5
Balance, December 31, 2007 $201.8 $109.7 $(1,534.1) $2,679.3 $159.9 $1,616.6

Common stock shares issued and common stock shares in treasury are summarized below: Common Stock 
Issued

Common Stock
in Treasury

Balance, December 31, 2004 100.9 32.2
Exercise of stock options — (0.5)
Stock repurchases — 2.0
Balance, December 31, 2005 100.9 33.7
Exercise of stock options — (0.8)
Stock repurchases — 2.0
Common stock split 100.9 34.9

Balance, December 31, 2006 201.8 69.8
Exercise of stock options — (1.4)
Stock repurchases — 4.0
Balance, December 31, 2007 201.8 72.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
The share information presented above prior to the December 2006 common stock split has not been restated.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Cash flows from operating activities:

 Net income $311.1 $276.8 $258.3

 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 
        provided by operating activities:

  Depreciation and amortization 97.8 90.9 90.1

  Deferred income taxes (21.7) (44.1) (33.9)

  Stock-based compensation expense 19.0 13.3 —

  Other (0.3) 7.8 0.1

 Changes in assets and liabilities:

  (Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (7.3) (25.2) 17.0

  Increase in inventories (25.2) (11.5) (4.8)

  Increase (decrease) in accrued income taxes 25.0 (5.4) (11.9)

  Other 20.7 27.8 (34.4)

 Net cash provided by operating activities 419.1 330.4 280.5

Cash flows from investing activities:

 Property, plant and equipment additions (79.7) (74.5) (92.2)

 Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 1.3 2.8 4.0

 Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired (67.6) (20.0) (416.6)

 Other, net (5.1) (12.7) (8.4)

 Net cash used in investing activities (151.1) (104.4) (513.2)

Cash flows from financing activities:

 Net issuance of short-term debt 61.8 45.3 118.0

 Issuance of long-term debt — 100.0 205.8

 Repayment of long-term debt (69.7) (142.8) (2.9)

 Payment of dividends (60.0) (55.7) (51.3)

 Treasury stock purchases (184.3) (138.2) (119.4)

 Exercise of stock options 32.4 30.9 20.9

 Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 7.8 4.3 —

 Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (212.0) (156.2) 171.1

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 7.8 5.4 (9.0)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 63.8 75.2 (70.6)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 173.8 98.6 169.2

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $237.6 $173.8 $  98.6

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

 Income taxes paid $113.9 $120.5 $104.9

 Interest paid, net of capitalized interest 29.6 34.7 21.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
($ In Millions)
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Nature of Operations  Sigma-Aldrich Corporation (“the Company”) 
develops, manufactures, purchases and distributes a broad range of high 
quality biochemicals and organic chemicals throughout the world. These 
chemical products and kits are used in scientific and genomic research, 
biotechnology, pharmaceutical development, the diagnosis of disease 
and as key components in pharmaceutical and other high technology 
manufacturing.

Principles of Consolidation  The consolidated financial statements include 
the accounts of the Company and all majority-owned subsidiaries. All 
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Financial Instruments  The Company has no financial instruments that 
have a materially different fair value than the respective instrument’s 
carrying value, except as described in Notes 7 and 8.

Revenue  Revenue, which includes shipping and handling fees billed to 
customers, is generally recognized upon transfer of title of the product to 
the customer, which occurs upon shipment to the customer, and is not 
dependent upon any post-shipment obligations. 

Research and Development  Expenditures relating to the development 
of new products and processes, including significant improvements to 
existing products or processes, are expensed as incurred as research and 
development.

Cash and Cash Equivalents  Cash and cash equivalents include cash on 
hand and investments with original maturities of less than three months.

Property, Plant and Equipment  The cost of property, plant and 
equipment is depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets 
using the straight-line method with lives ranging from three to twelve 
years for machinery and equipment and fifteen to forty years for buildings 
and improvements. Depreciation expense was $86.1, $80.0 and $78.4 
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 
The Company capitalizes interest as part of the cost of constructing major 
facilities and equipment.

Goodwill  Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill 
and Other Intangible Assets,” requires the Company to assess goodwill for 
impairment rather than to systematically amortize goodwill against earnings. 
The goodwill impairment test compares the fair value of a reporting unit 
to its carrying amount, including goodwill. The Company operates as 
one reporting unit and its fair value exceeds its carrying value, including 
goodwill. Therefore, the Company has determined that no impairment of 
goodwill existed at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Long-Lived Assets  Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment 
whenever conditions indicate that the carrying value of assets may not be 
fully recoverable. Such impairment tests are based on a comparison of the 
undiscounted cash flows prior to income taxes to the recorded value of the 
asset. If impairment is indicated, the asset value is written down to its fair 
market value or using discounted cash flows if the fair market value is not 
readily determinable.

Stock Options  In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 
(Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123(R)). SFAS 123(R) requires 
companies to recognize compensation cost for employee services received 

in exchange for an award of equity instruments. Stock-based compensation 
cost, for stock options, is estimated at the grant date based on the award’s 
fair value as calculated by the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is 
recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service period.

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006 
using the “modified prospective” method. As a result of using this method, 
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2006 reflect the impact of SFAS 123(R), while the consolidated financial 
statements of previous years presented were not restated for such impact. 
See Note 12 for the disclosures related to stock options.

Foreign Currency Translation  Assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at current exchange rates and profit and 
loss accounts are translated at weighted average exchange rates. Resulting 
translation gains and losses are included as a separate component of 
stockholders’ equity as accumulated other comprehensive income or loss.

Use of Estimates  The preparation of consolidated financial statements 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the years presented. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates under different assumptions
or conditions.

Common Stock Split  In November 2006, the Board of Directors 
authorized a two-for-one stock split effected in the form of a 100 
percent stock dividend to shareholders of record on December 15, 2006. 
Shareholders of record received an additional share on January 2, 2007 for 
each share they owned. The par value of the Company’s common stock 
remains $1.00 per share. The stock split is reflected in the Consolidated 
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity as a reclassification from Retained 
Earnings to Common Stock. Except as otherwise noted, all share and per 
share information presented prior to 2007 herein has been retroactively 
adjusted to reflect the common stock split.

Reclassifications  The accompanying consolidated financial statements for 
prior years contain certain reclassifications to conform with the presentation 
used in 2007.

Effect of New Accounting Standards In September 2006, the Financial 
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS 157).  
SFAS 157 establishes a common definition of fair value for financial 
instruments, sets a framework for measuring fair value and expands 
disclosure about such fair value measurements.  This Statement applies 
only to fair value measurements that are already required or permitted 
by other accounting standards and is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after November 15, 2007. The Company currently discloses fair value 
information, in Notes 7 and 8 to its consolidated financial statements.  The 
adoption of SFAS 157 in January 2008 is not expected to have a significant 
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and 
Other Postretirement Plans” (SFAS 158). SFAS 158 requires companies to 
recognize, on a prospective basis, the funded status of their defined benefit 
pension and other post-retirement benefit plans in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets and recognize as a component of other comprehensive income, net

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

of tax, the gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that arise during 
the period but are not recognized as components of net periodic benefit 
costs. SFAS 158 also requires additional disclosures in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements and requires the use of a company’s 
fiscal year-end as the measurement date for plan assets and benefit 
obligations, eliminating the use of earlier measurement dates that are 
currently permissible. The Company adopted all provisions of SFAS 158 as 
of December 31, 2006, except the measurement date requirement. The 
net impact of applying SFAS 158 on the Company’s 2006 consolidated 
financial statements was a $31.7 reduction of stockholders’ equity. The 
new measurement date requirement is not effective until fiscal years ending 
after December 15, 2008. The Company is in the process of assessing the 
impact of the SFAS 158 measurement date requirement on its consolidated 
financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities – Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115” (SFAS 
159).  SFAS 159 provides companies with an option to measure certain 
financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not 
currently required to be measured at fair value.  SFAS 159 is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007.  The adoption of SFAS 
159 in January 2008 is not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

In June 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus 
on EITF Issue No. 07-3, “Accounting for Advance Payments for Goods or 
Services to Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities” (EITF 
07-3).  Under EITF 07-3, non-refundable advance payments to acquire 
goods or pay for services that will be consumed or performed in future 
periods in conducting research and development activities on behalf of 
an entity should be capitalized as an asset when the payments are made, 
and recognized as an expense as the research and development activities 
are performed. The consensus is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2007, and will be applied to contractual arrangements 
entered beginning January 1, 2008. The adoption of EITF 07-3 in January 
2008 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” (SFAS 141(R)). 
SFAS 141(R) establishes principles and requirements for how an acquiring 
entity recognizes and measures in its financial statements the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed.  SFAS 141(R) also establishes disclosure 
requirements to enable the evaluation of the nature and financial effects of 
the business combination. SFAS 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2008, and will be applied prospectively to acquisitions 
beginning January 1, 2009. The Company is in the process of assessing the 
impact of SFAS 141(R) on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 07-1, 
“Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements” (EITF 07-1).  EITF 07-1 
addresses the accounting for activities of collaborative arrangements outside 
of an established separate legal entity, such as those to jointly develop and 
commercialize intellectual property.  Under EITF 07-1, revenues and costs 
incurred with third parties in connection with the collaborative arrangement 
should be presented gross or net based on the criteria in EITF Issue No. 

99-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as Principal versus Net as an Agent” and 
other applicable accounting literature.  The consensus is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2008, and will be applied to using a 
retrospective method that requires reclassification in all periods presented 
for those arrangements still in effect at January 1, 2009.  The Company is 
in the process of assessing the impact of EITF 07-1 on its consolidated 
financial statements.

NOTE 2: ACQUISITIONS

On February 28, 2005, the Company completed its acquisition of all of the 
outstanding capital securities of JRH Biosciences Pty Ltd., CSL US Inc. and 
JRH Biosciences Limited, which collectively comprised the JRH Biosciences 
division (JRH) of CSL Limited. JRH is a global supplier of cell culture and 
sera products to the biopharmaceutical industry. Headquartered in Lenexa, 
Kansas, JRH has major manufacturing facilities and/or serum collection and 
processing centers in the United States, the United Kingdom and Australia. 

The purchase price paid (including direct acquisition costs) by the Company 
in the transaction was $366.8. The Company funded the acquisition with 
borrowings of $340.0 and the balance from available cash. 

This acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method of 
accounting and accordingly, its results are included in the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. The purchase 
price (including direct acquisition costs) of $366.8 has been allocated 
primarily to receivables ($14.4); inventory ($116.9); other assets ($10.3); 
property, plant and equipment ($38.0); intangible assets ($98.5); goodwill 
($178.8); accounts payable and accrued liabilities ($43.6); net deferred 
income tax liabilities ($43.4) and other long-term liabilities ($3.1), based on 
their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. None of the goodwill is 
deductible currently for income tax purposes.

The following table summarizes supplemental consolidated pro forma 
financial information as if the JRH acquisition had been completed on 
January 1, 2005:

(Unaudited)
Twelve Months Ended 

December 31, 2005

Net sales $1,690.0

Net income 268.6

Diluted net income per share $     1.95

There were no significant acquisitions individually, or in the aggregate, in 
2006 or 2007.

NOTE 3: ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Balance, beginning of year  $4.7 $5.8 $4.9

Additions to reserves 0.5 0.7 2.0

Deductions from reserves  0.8 1.8 1.1

Balance, end of year $4.4 $4.7 $5.8
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NOTE 5: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

The Company’s amortizable and unamortizable intangible assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Cost
Accumulated 
Amortization

2007 2006 2007 2006

Amortizable intangible assets:

Patents $  16.6 $  12.5 $  5.6 $  4.4

Licenses 19.1 14.4 4.6 3.2

Customer relationships 100.9 91.8 17.6 11.1

Technical knowledge 22.6 17.9 4.3 2.8

Other 12.7 13.1 11.0 9.9

Total amortizable intangible assets $171.9 $149.7 $43.1 $31.4

Unamortizable intangible assets:

Goodwill $446.6 $386.8 $26.3 $25.5

Trademarks and Trade names 15.9 15.3 7.8 7.6

Total unamortizable intangible assets $462.5 $402.1 $34.1 $33.1

The purchase price paid in cash for acquired intangible assets is based upon 
their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The Company added 
$21.3 of acquired amortizable intangible assets during 2007, including 
adjustments for the finalization of the purchase accounting allocation of 
various insignificant acquisitions.

The Company recorded amortization expense of $11.7, $10.9 and $11.7, 
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, 
related to amortizable intangible assets with estimated useful lives ranging 
from one to twenty years using a straight-line method. The Company 
expects to record annual amortization expense for all intangible assets in a 
range from approximately $11.7 to $11.1 from 2008 through 2012.

Changes in net goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 
are as follows:

2007 2006

Balance, beginning of year $361.3 $336.4

Acquisitions 51.7 11.8

Impact of foreign exchange rates 7.3 13.1

Balance, end of year $420.3 $361.3

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

NOTE 4: INVENTORIES

The principal categories of inventories at December 31, 2007 and 2006 are 
as follows:

2007 2006

Finished goods $542.8 $503.3

Work in process 29.1 26.1

Raw materials 81.7 66.6

Total $653.6 $596.0

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Costs for 77% of 
inventories are determined using a weighted average actual cost method. 
Costs for 23% of inventories are determined using the last-in, first-out 
method. If the value of all chemical inventories had been determined using 
the weighted average actual cost method, inventories would have been 
$0.7, $0.4 and $0.3 higher than reported at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 
2005, respectively.
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NOTE 6: NOTES PAYABLE 

In March 2007, the Company entered into a $200.0 seven-year multi-
currency European revolving credit facility with a syndicate of banks having a 
maturity date of March 13, 2014. The facility will be used for general 
purposes, including acquisitions, by the Company’s European operations. At 
December 31, 2007, borrowings outstanding in U.S. dollars (USD) were 
$56.5 at a weighted average interest rate of 3.19%. This facility contains 
financial covenants that require the maintenance of consolidated net worth 
of at least $750.0 and a consolidated ratio of debt to total capital of no 
more than 55.0%. The Company’s consolidated net worth and consolidated 
total debt as a percentage of total capitalization, as defined in the credit 
facility, were $1,434.6 and 27.3%, respectively, at December 31, 2007. 

The Company has a $300.0 five-year revolving credit facility with a syndicate 
of banks having a maturity date of December 11, 2011. In October 2007, 
the Company exercised an option in the facility to extend the maturity 
of the facility for one year to December 11, 2012. The facility supports 
the Company’s commercial paper program. At December 31, 2007 and 
2006, the Company did not have any borrowings outstanding under this 
facility. The syndicated facility contains financial covenants that require 
the maintenance of consolidated net worth of at least $750.0 and a 
ratio of consolidated debt to total capitalization of no more than 55%. 
The Company’s consolidated net worth and total consolidated debt as a 
percentage of total capitalization, as defined in the credit facility, were 
$1,434.6 and 27.3%, respectively, at December 31, 2007.

At December 31, 2007, $171.2 of commercial paper was outstanding with 
a weighted average interest rate of 4.26%. At December 31, 2006, $146.0 
of commercial paper was outstanding with a weighted average interest rate 
of 5.32%.

Sigma-Aldrich Korea Limited has a short-term credit facility denominated in 
Korean Won expiring on March 10, 2008. The total commitment converted 
into U.S. Dollars (USD) was $21.4 at December 31, 2007. The borrowings 
bear interest based on the Korean market rate plus an incremental 
margin based upon the Company’s credit rating. At December 31, 2007, 
borrowings outstanding in USD were $11.8 at an average interest rate of 
6.42%. At December 31, 2006, borrowings outstanding in USD were $18.4 
at an average interest rate of 5.49%.

The Company has provided a guarantee for any outstanding borrowings 
from the short-term credit facility of the wholly-owned Korean subsidiary 
described in above. There are no existing events of default that would 
require the Company to honor this guarantee. The borrowings subject to 
this guarantee are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. 

The Company has other short-term credit facilities denominated in foreign 
currencies, excluding those mentioned above, with a total commitment 
converted into USD of $15.4 at December 31, 2007. Borrowings 
outstanding under the facilities were $1.8 and $6.7, with a weighted 
average interest rate of 1.4% and 0.8% at December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively.

NOTE 7: LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consists of the following at December 31, 2007 and 2006:

2007 2006

7.687% Senior Notes, due September 12, 2010 $100.0 $100.0

5.11% Senior Notes, due December 5, 2011 100.0 100.0

Medium-Term Notes, due February 23, 2008 90.0 120.0

Medium-Term Loans, due December 20, 2007 — 35.6

Other 7.0 0.2

Total 297.0 355.8

Less — Current maturities (90.0) (17.9)

$207.0 $337.9

The Company, at its option, may redeem all or any portion of the $100.0 
of 7.687% Senior Notes by notice to the holder and by paying a make 
whole amount to the holder as compensation for loss of future interest 
income. The 7.687% Senior Notes contain financial covenants that require 
the maintenance of consolidated net worth of at least $750.0, a ratio of 
consolidated debt to total capitalization of no more than 55% and an 
aggregate amount of all consolidated priority debt no more than 30% of 
consolidated net worth. Consolidated priority debt includes all unsecured 
debt of any subsidiary in which a majority of the voting shares are owned 
by the Company. The Company’s consolidated net worth, consolidated debt 
as a percentage of total capitalization and consolidated priority debt as a 
percentage of consolidated total net worth was, as defined in the 7.687% 
Senior Notes, $1,434.6, 27.3% and 5.1%, respectively, at December 31, 2007.

The Company, at its option, may redeem all or any portion of the $100.0 of 
5.11% Senior Notes by notice to the holder and by paying a make whole 
amount to the holder as compensation for loss of future interest income. 
The 5.11% Senior Notes contain financial covenants that require a ratio 
of consolidated debt to total capitalization of no more than 60% and an 
aggregate amount of all consolidated priority debt no more than 30% of 
consolidated net worth. The Company’s consolidated debt as a percentage 
of total capitalization and consolidated priority debt as a percentage of total 
consolidated net worth was, as defined in the 5.11% Senior Notes, 25.0% 
and 4.6%, respectively, at December 31, 2007.

The Medium-Term Notes due February 23, 2008 were issued in February 
2005 as a component of the $300.0 credit agreement entered into with a 
syndicate of banks to partially fund acquisitions and provide for working 
capital requirements. Borrowings outstanding under the three-year term 
were $90.0 and $120.0 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The 
Company may pay off all or a portion of the term loans outstanding prior 
to maturity without penalty. Borrowings under the Medium-Term Notes bear 
interest at various rates, including London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), 
or an alternative base rate plus, in each case, an incremental margin based 
on the Company’s credit ratings.  At December 31, 2007, the weighted 
average interest rate on these notes was 5.41%. At December 31, 2006, 
the weighted average interest rate on these notes was 5.68%.

The Medium-Term Notes contain financial covenants that require the 
maintenance of consolidated net worth of at least $750.0 and a ratio 
of consolidated debt to total capitalization of no more than 55%. The 
Company’s consolidated net worth and consolidated total debt as a 
percentage of total capitalization, as defined in the credit facility, were 
$1,434.6 and 27.3%, respectively at December 31, 2007.

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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NOTE 7: LONG-TERM DEBT (continued) 

The Medium-Term Loans due December 20, 2007 were issued under the 
terms of a credit agreement dated December 15, 2005 between Sigma-
Aldrich (Switzerland) Holding AG and a syndicate of banks at an aggregate 
principal amount not to exceed the Swiss local currency equivalent of $60.0. 
These loans were fully paid on August 21, 2007.  Borrowings outstanding 
under this credit agreement at December 31, 2006 were $35.6 at a 
weighted average interest rate of 2.19%. 

Total interest expense incurred on short-term and long-term debt, net of 
amounts capitalized, was $28.9, $31.4, and $21.6 in 2007, 2006, and 
2005, respectively. 

The fair value of long-term debt, including current maturities, was 
approximately $306.1 and $352.0 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively, based upon a discounted cash flow analysis using current 
market interest rates.

NOTE 8: FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company transacts business in many parts of the world and is subject 
to risks associated with changing foreign currency exchange rates. The 
Company’s objective is to minimize the impact of foreign currency exchange 
rate changes during the period of time between the original transaction 
date and its cash settlement. Accordingly, the Company enters into forward 
currency exchange contracts in order to stabilize the value of certain 
receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies. The Company 
does not enter into foreign currency transactions for speculative trading 
purposes. The Company’s policy is to manage the risks associated with 
existing receivables, payables and commitments.

The principal forward currency exchange contracts are for the British pound, 
Euro, Swiss franc, Japanese yen and Canadian dollar. These contracts are 
recorded at fair value and are included in other current assets. Resulting 
gains and losses are recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses 
and are partially or completely offset by changes in the value of related 
exposures. The duration of the contracts typically does not exceed six 
months. The counterparties to the contracts are large, reputable commercial 
banks and, accordingly, the Company expects all counterparties to meet 
their obligations.

The notional amount, which approximates fair value, of open forward 
exchange contracts at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $167.7 and 
$153.8, respectively.

NOTE 9: LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Company and its subsidiaries lease manufacturing, office and 
warehouse facilities and computer equipment under non-cancelable 
operating leases expiring at various dates. Rent charged to operations 
was $36.6, $32.9 and $31.8 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 
Minimum rental commitments for non-cancelable leases in effect at 
December 31, 2007, are as follows:

2008 $33.3

2009 27.7

2010 19.1

2011 13.5

2012 10.5

2013 and thereafter 10.3

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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NOTE 10: INCOME TAXES 

The components of income before income taxes consisted of the following 
for the years ended December 31:

2007 2006 2005

United States operations $286.6 $270.0 $244.5

International operations 151.0 108.7 98.8

Total income before taxes $437.6 $378.7 $343.3

The provision for income taxes consists of the following for years ended 
December 31:

2007 2006 2005

Current:

 Federal $ 82.1 $ 82.9 $76.0

 State and local 7.4 6.2 5.6

 International 58.9 54.5 31.1

  Total current 148.4 143.6 112.7

Deferred:

 Federal (13.8) (24.8) (15.1)

 State and local (0.5) (1.1) (0.1)

 International (7.6) (15.8) (12.5)

  Total deferred (21.9) (41.7) (27.7)

Provision for income taxes $126.5 $101.9 $85.0

The items accounting for the difference between income taxes computed at 
the U.S. federal statutory rate and the Company’s effective tax rate are as 
follows for years ended December 31:

2007 2006 2005

Statutory tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

EIE benefit — (1.9) (2.3)

U.S. manufacturing deduction (2.1) (0.7) (0.4)

Sta te and local income taxes,
net of federal benefit 1.0 0.8 0.4

Res earch and development credits (0.8) (0.8) (0.8)

International taxes (4.9) (3.6) (6.1)

Dividend repatriation — — 1.2

Tax audits and unrecognized tax positions — (2.3) (2.2)

Other, net 0.7 0.4   —

Tot al effective tax rate 28.9% 26.9% 24.8%

The Extraterritorial Income Exclusion (EIE) on the Company’s U.S. export sales 
which provided benefit in 2005 and 2006 was eliminated for 2007 as a 
result of the phase-out of this benefit in the American Jobs Creation Act of 
2004 (AJCA). The increased U.S. manufacturing deduction benefit in 2007 is 
the result of the phase-in of the new benefit on U.S. manufacturing income 
provided in the AJCA. The international tax reductions in 2007, 2006 and 
2005 were primarily the result of international restructurings.

The AJCA also provided a temporary incentive for U.S. multinationals to 
repatriate accumulated income earned outside the U.S. The Company 
repatriated $120.5 and recorded an income tax charge of $4.1 in 2005. This 
charge is reflected in the “Dividend repatriation” category.

The Company completed examinations of U.S. claims for the 1998-2001 tax 
years and an examination of its U.S. Federal returns for the 2003 and 2004 

tax years by the Internal Revenue Service in 2005 and 2007, respectively, and 
reduced its unrecognized tax positions based on those settlements.  As a 
result, benefits of approximately $4.5 million for 2007 and $11.3 million for 
2005 were recognized and are reflected in the “Tax audits and unrecognized 
tax positions” category.

The Company reviews its potential tax liabilities and unrecognized tax posi-
tions for tax years subject to audits. Based upon these reviews, the Company 
determined that adjustments to tax expense were necessary. The net 
benefit/(cost) of approximately $(4.5), $8.8 and $(3.7) are reflected in “Tax 
audits and unrecognized tax positions” category for years ending December 
31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s international subsidiaries amounted 
to approximately $327 at December 31, 2007. Upon distribution of those 
earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be 
subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign 
tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to various foreign countries. 
The Company may periodically make distributions from its international 
subsidiaries to its U.S. parent. These distributions will only be made at 
such time that they are deemed to be tax efficient. The Company does not 
anticipate any significant increase to its U.S. tax liability above that which has 
been previously recorded.

Deferred income tax provisions reflect the effect of temporary differences 
between consolidated financial statement and tax reporting of income and 
expense items. The net deferred tax assets/liabilities at December 31, 2007 
and 2006, respectively, result from the following temporary differences:

2007 2006

Deferred tax assets:

 Inventories $  45.8 $  37.4

 Net operating loss carryforwards 25.5 19.5

 Pos t-retirement benefits
and other employee benefits 32.8 23.9

 Amortization 20.2 15.4

 Pension benefits 3.4 10.8

 Other 6.2 13.0

 Total deferred tax assets 133.9 120.0

Deferred tax liabilities:

 Property, plant and equipment (72.2) (80.2)

 Total deferred tax liabilities (72.2) (80.2)

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $  61.7 $  39.8

The net operating loss carryforwards relate to international operations. At 
December 31, 2007, $14.8 of these deferred tax assets expire in 2012 and 
the remainder of these assets have no expiration. The Company believes it 
will have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the carryforwards prior 
to expiration.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities in the preceding table, netted by taxing 
jurisdiction, are included in the following captions in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets at December 31, 2007 and 2006:

2007 2006

Deferred tax assets $  57.7 $  49.6

Other assets 54.4 43.1

Other accrued expenses (8.1) (4.8)

Deferred tax liabilities (42.3) (48.1)

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $  61.7 $  39.8

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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NOTE 10: INCOME TAXES (continued)

Uncertainty in Income Taxes  The Company adopted the provisions of 
FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, 
an interpretation of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 109” 
(FIN 48) on January 1, 2007.  As a result of adoption, the Company 
decreased its unrecognized tax positions by $3.5 with the offset to retained 
earnings resulting in a balance of $33.5 of unrecognized tax benefits in the 
consolidated financial statements as of January 1, 2007.

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns for U.S. federal 
taxes, and for various state, local and international taxes, as applicable.  The 
Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal income tax examination for 
years prior to 2005 and, with limited exceptions, for any state, local and 
international income tax examinations prior to 2003.

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) commenced an examination of the 
Company’s U.S. federal income tax returns for 2003 and 2004, in 
June 2005. In May 2007, the Company received notification from the 
Congressional Joint Committee on Taxation that the examination results 
proposed by the IRS were accepted.  As a result, the Company reduced its 
unrecognized tax benefits by $3.8 and reduced interest accrued net of tax 
by $0.7, which resulted in a $4.5 income tax benefit in the second quarter 
of 2007. 

In late 2006, the German tax authorities commenced an examination of the 
Company’s German income tax returns for 2000-2004.  As of December 
31, 2007, no material adjustments to the returns had been proposed. 

Additional liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits were established in 2007 
that partially offset the income tax benefit described above.  

The following table sets forth changes in our total gross unrecognized 
tax benefit liabilities, excluding interest and penalties, for the year ended 
December 31, 2007: 

Balance, beginning of year $33.5

Tax positions related to current year:

  Additions

  Reductions
 4.4

—

Tax positions related to prior year:

  Additions

  Reductions
 0.6
(4.4)

Settlements —

Lapse in statutes of limitations (2.0)

Balance, end of year $  32.1

Approximately $20.5 of the total gross unrecognized tax benefits reported, 
if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate in the future periods.

The Company believes it is reasonably possible that the unrecognized tax 
benefits at December 31, 2007 may decrease by approximately $5.0 to 
$6.0 due to the completion of examinations and the expiration of statutes 
in several jurisdictions within 12 months of December 31, 2007.

The Company recognizes interest accrued, net of tax, and penalties related 
to unrecognized tax benefits as components of our income tax provision as 
applicable.  In 2007, the Company recognized $0.7 of interest expense, net 
of tax, in its consolidated statements of income.  As of December 31, 2007, 
we have accrued $5.9 of interest, net of tax of $3.2, and $0.6 of penalties.  

Interest was computed on the difference between the tax provision 
recognized in accordance with FIN 48 and the amount reflected or expected 
to be reflected in the Company’s tax returns.

NOTE 11: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

The Company is involved in legal proceedings generally incidental to its 
business, as described below:

Insurance and Other Contingent Liabilities and Commitments  The 
Company is a defendant in several lawsuits and claims related to the normal 
conduct of its business, including lawsuits and claims related to product 
liability and personal injury matters. The Company accrues for such liabilities 
when it is probable that future costs (including legal fees and expenses) will 
be incurred and such costs can be reasonably estimated. The Company has 
self-insured retention limits and has obtained insurance to provide coverage 
above the self-insured limits for product liability and personal injury claims, 
subject to certain limitations and exclusions. Reserves have been provided to 
cover expected payments for these self-insured amounts at December 31, 
2007 and 2006. 

In one group of lawsuits and claims, the Company, as well as others 
engaged in manufacturing and distributing similar products, is a defendant 
in multiple claims alleging injuries from exposure to various chemicals by a 
limited number of employees of one electronics manufacturer. These claims 
have been filed in three states. A global settlement has been reached for all 
cases, which will be submitted to the court for approval. The settlement is 
not significant to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In another group of lawsuits and claims, the Company provided a 
product for use in research activities in developing various vaccines 
at pharmaceutical companies. The Company, together with other 
manufacturers and distributors offering the same product and several 
pharmaceutical companies, has been named as a defendant and served in 
294 lawsuits, of which 56 lawsuits have been dismissed to date. Several of 
the outstanding suits have been stayed by various state and federal courts 
pending a decision on coverage available under a federal government relief 
program. No definite date has been set for this decision.

In all cases, the Company believes its products in question were restricted to 
research use and that proper information for safe use of the products was 
provided to the customer.

A class action complaint was filed against a subsidiary of the Company 
in the Montgomery County, Ohio Court of Common Pleas related to a 
2003 explosion in a column at the Company’s Isotec facility in Miamisburg, 
Ohio. The case was separated into the following four phases: phase one 
– existence of liability, phase two – quantification of any compensatory 
damages, phase three – existence of any punitive damages and phase four 
– quantification of any punitive damages. Class certification was granted 
to phases one, three and four, but denied to phase two. Compensatory 
damages for all plaintiffs must be established before the case can 
proceed to the punitive damages phases. The Company has accepted 
responsibility for phase one, existence of liability. The case is currently in the 
compensatory damages phase, where, because no class status exists, each 
plaintiff must individually establish actual damages.  The initial phase two, 
compensatory damages trial, for 31 plaintiffs was completed on April 27, 
2007 with a jury verdict establishing actual damages of approximately two 
hundred dollars per plaintiff. The plaintiffs filed an appeal staying further 
action on the case until the appeal has been resolved. The original appeal

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006 using the “modified prospective” method. As a result of using this method, the 
consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 reflect the impact of SFAS 123(R), while the consolidated financial 
statements of previous years presented were not restated for such impact. Had expense for the Company’s stock-based compensation awards been 
determined based on the grant date fair value for 2005, consistent with the provisions of SFAS 123, the Company’s reported and pro-forma net income and 
net income per share for the year ended December 31, 2005, would have been as follows:

 2005

Net income – as reported $258.3

Pro-forma stock-based compensation expense, net of tax – as if grant date fair value had been applied to all stock-based 
payment awards (9.6)

Net income – pro-forma for stock-based compensation expense $248.7

Net income per share – Basic, as reported $1.90

Net income per share – Basic, pro-forma for stock-based compensation expense $1.83

Net income per share – Diluted, as reported $1.88

Net income per share – Diluted, pro-forma for stock-based compensation expense $1.81

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

NOTE 11: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND 
COMMITMENTS (continued)

has been dismissed, but the plaintiffs are in the process of refiling their 
appeal. The Company continues to believe it has substantial legal defenses 
to the allegations, which it will vigorously assert.  

The Company believes its reserves and insurance are sufficient to provide 
for claims outstanding at December 31, 2007. While the outcome of the 
current claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the possible outcome of 
the claims is reviewed at least quarterly and reserves adjusted as deemed 
appropriate based on these reviews. Based on current information available, 
the Company believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters will 
not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial condition, 
results of operations or liquidity. Future claims related to the use of these 
categories of products may not be covered in full by the Company’s 
insurance program.

At December 31, 2007, there were no other known contingent liabilities 
that management believes could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s consolidated financial condition or results of operations, nor 
were there any material commitments outside of the normal course of 
business. Material commitments in the normal course of business include 
notes payable, long-term debt, lease commitments and pension and other 
post-retirement benefit obligations which are disclosed in Note 6, Note 7, 
Note 9 and Note 14, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2007.

NOTE 12: COMMON STOCK

The Company’s 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan (2003 LTIP), permits 
the granting of incentive or nonqualified stock options as well as stock 
appreciation rights, performance shares, restricted stock and other stock-
based awards. The 2003 LTIP permits the distribution of up to 11,000,000 
shares of the Company’s common stock, subject to increase for any shares 
forfeited under the other plans after the effective date of the 2003 LTIP. 
Shares issued under the 2003 LTIP may be authorized and unissued shares 
or treasury shares. This plan permits the award of non-qualified stock 
options to those members of the Board of Directors who are not employees 
of the Company. Under this plan, a non-employee Director will receive 
an initial option to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock on the date 
of his or her initial election as a Director. Additional awards of options to 
purchase 10,000 shares are made to each eligible Director on the day after 
each annual shareholders’ meeting if the non-employee Director has served 
on the Board of Directors for at least six months. Under this plan, incentive 
stock options may only be granted to employees of the Company or its 
subsidiaries, and a participant may not hold incentive stock options with a 
fair market value, determined as of the grant date, in excess of $0.1 in the 
year in which they are first exercisable if this limitation is necessary to qualify 
the option as an incentive stock option. Incentive and nonqualified stock 
options may not have an option price of less than the fair market value of 
the shares at the date of the grant. Options generally become exercisable 
from three months to three years following the grant date and expire ten 
years after the grant date. Options granted in 2007 for 1,072,800 shares 
become exercisable over a three month to three year period following 
the grant date and expire ten years after the grant date. Including shares 
forfeited or swapped, 4,625,670 shares of the Company’s common stock 
remain to be awarded at December 31, 2007 under this plan.
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NOTE 12: COMMON STOCK (continued) 

As of December 31, 2007, the Company expects $16.1 of unrecognized 
expense related to nonvested stock-based compensation arrangements 
granted to be incurred in future periods. This expense is expected to be 
recognized over a weighted average period of 1.3 years.

Stock-based compensation expense charged against income is included in 
selling, general and administrative expenses. The stock-based compensation 
expense, net of tax of $4.1 and $2.3 for the years ended December 31, 
2007 and 2006 was $14.9 and $11.0, respectively.

Stock Options  The Company measures the total fair value of options on 
the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company 
then recognizes each grant’s total cost over the period that the options vest 
based on its calculated fair value. During the year ended December 31, 
2007, the Company granted a total of 1,072,800 stock options under the 
2003 LTIP. 

2007 2006 2005

Expected term (years)  5.9  6.0  6.7

Expected volatility  25.12%  27.84%  28.50%

Risk-free interest rate  4.68%  5.01%  3.96%

Dividend yield  1.18%  1.22%  1.23%

Expected term – The expected terms of the options represents the period of 
time between the grant date of the options and the time the options are either 
exercised or forfeited, including an estimate of future forfeitures for outstand-
ing options. In accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Staff 
Accounting Bulletin No. 107, the Company has used the “simplified” method 
for “plain vanilla” options to estimate the expected term of options granted.

Expected volatility – The expected volatility is calculated based on an average of 
the historical volatility of the Company’s stock price for a period approximating 
the expected term.

Risk-free interest rate – The risk-free interest rates are based on the U.S. Treasury 
yield curve in effect at the time of grant and a maturity that approximates the 
expected term.

Dividend yield – The dividend yield is based on the Company’s authorized 
quarterly dividend, approved by the Board of Directors during the respective 
periods noted above, and the Company’s expectation for dividend yields over 
the expected term.

The following table presents activity for the Company’s stock option plans, including the 2003 LTIP, the Stock Option Plan of 2000, the 1998 Directors’ Non-
Qualified Share Option Plan, the Share Option Plan of 1995 and the Stock Option Plan of 1987. A summary of the combined stock option activity and other 
data for the Company’s stock option plans for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Number of Stock 
Options

Wtd. Avg.
Exercise Price

 Per Share
Wtd. Avg. Remaining 

Contractual Life 
Aggregate Intrinsic 

Value 

Stock Options outstanding, January 1, 2007 7,727,140 $25.99 — —

Granted 1,072,800 41.81 — —

Exercised (1,432,782) 23.35 — —

Forfeited (154,662) 35.25 — —

Stock Options outstanding, December 31, 2007 7,212,496 $28.66 74.38 months $187.10

Stock Options exercisable at December 31, 2007 5,236,942 $25.77 63.85 months $151.00

The weighted-average assumptions under the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for stock option grants are as follows:

Number of Stock 
Options

Wtd. Avg.
Exercise Price

 Per Share
Wtd. Avg. Remaining 

Contractual Life 
Aggregate Intrinsic 

Value 

Stock Options outstanding, January 1, 2006 8,241,628 $24.21 — —

Granted 1,075,950 34.20 — —

Exercised (1,486,662) 21.88 — —

Forfeited (103,776) 28.26 — —

Stock Options outstanding, December 31, 2006 7,727,140 $25.99 77.10 months $99.40

Stock Options exercisable at December 31, 2006 5,681,177 $24.18 67.50 months $83.40

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $31.9, $20.2 and $12.2, respectively. The 
weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $12.58, $11.25 and $9.47, respectively.

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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NOTE 12: COMMON STOCK (continued) 

Performance Units  Performance Unit awards in the first quarter of 2007 
and 2006 were 193,580 and 174,480 units, respectively. The Performance 
Units awarded in 2007 vest over a three-year performance period beginning 
January 1, 2007 and ending December 31, 2009. The Performance Units 
awarded in 2006 vest over a three-year performance period beginning 
January 1, 2006 and ending December 31, 2008. The actual Performance 
Units awarded will be determined at the end of the performance period 
with possible payouts ranging from 0% to 150% of the target amount 
based upon the achievement of specified performance criteria. One-half of 
the awards issued will be based upon the Company’s three-year average 
return on equity ratio calculation and one-half of the awards will be based 
upon the Company’s three-year average sales growth (adjusted for currency, 
but including acquisitions). Each Performance Unit paid will include one-half 
share of the Company’s common stock and the cash equivalent of one-half 
share of the Company’s common stock, except that the Company will direct 

that any fractional shares of stock be paid in cash. The value of the equity 
portion of a Performance Unit is equivalent to the closing market price of 
the Company’s stock on the grant date. The Company will expense the 
expected cost over the three-year vesting period. The remaining half of the 
Performance Unit, to be paid in cash, is valued at the closing market price 
of the Company’s stock at each quarter-end and ratably expensed during 
the remaining performance period. Therefore, the related stock-based 
compensation expense will fluctuate with the value of the Company’s 
stock. The expense for the entire number of Performance Units awarded is 
dependant upon the probability of achieving the specific financial targets 
and is recorded ratably over the three-year vesting period.

A summary of the Company’s nonvested Performance Units as of December 
31, 2007 and 2006, and changes during the year then ended, is reflected in 
the table below. The Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value includes both 
the fair value at grant date for the equity portion of the Performance Unit 
and the fair value of the cash portion of the Performance Unit.

Number of 
Performance Units

Wtd. Avg. Grant 
Date Fair Value

Nonvested Performance Units outstanding, January 1, 2007 166,480 $  35.25

Granted 193,580 41.62

Forfeited (1) (46,817) 41.38

Nonvested Performance Units outstanding, December 31, 2007 313,243 46.00

(1) Includes the reduction to the number of units for the expected payout based on the specified performance criteria at the end of the performance period, December 31, 2008, for 

the 2006 awards at less than 100%.

Stock Awards  On January 2, 2008, each non-employee Director received 
an additional 1,200 shares of Company stock. The stock award will be 
expensed in the first quarter of 2008 based on the fair market value of the 
Company’s common stock at December 31, 2007. 

On January 2, 2007, each non-employee Director received an additional 
1,200 shares of Company stock. The stock award was expensed in the first 
quarter of 2007 based on the fair market value of the Company's common 
stock at December 31, 2006. 

On January 1, 2006, each non-employee Director received 1,200 shares 
of Company stock in lieu of an increase in Director fees. The stock award 
was expensed in the first quarter of 2006 based on the fair value of the 
Company’s common stock at December 31, 2005.

Common Stock Purchase Rights  The Company has outstanding one 
common share purchase right (a “Right”) for each outstanding share of 
common stock of the Company. Generally, if any person or group acquires 
15% or more of the Company’s outstanding voting stock without prior 
written consent of the Company’s Board of Directors, these Rights 
become exercisable.

Number of 
Performance Units

Wtd. Avg. Grant 
Date Fair Value

Nonvested Performance Units outstanding, January 1, 2006 — $  —

Granted 174,480 31.65

Forfeited (8,000) 33.26

Nonvested Performance Units outstanding, December 31, 2006 166,480 35.25

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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NOTE 14: PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT 
BENEFIT PLANS 

The Company maintains several retirement plans covering substantially all 
U.S. employees and employees of certain international subsidiaries. Pension 
benefits are generally based on years of service and compensation. The 
Company also maintains post-retirement medical benefit plans covering 
some of its U.S. employees. Benefits are subject to deductibles, co-payment 
provisions and coordination with benefits available under Medicare. The 
Company has made a determination regarding the effects of the Medicare 
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the Act) 
that the prescription drug benefits it provides will be actuarially equivalent 
to the benefits provided under the Act. This determination was based on 

an analysis of the benefits and participant contributions for a particular 
participant group and comparing them to the benefits and contributions 
for the Medicare Part D standard benefit package. Retiree groups were 
assumed to be actuarially equivalent where the actuarial net value of the 
benefit/contribution package was greater than the Medicare Part D standard 
benefit package. The estimated benefit of the subsidy resulting from the 
Act has been incorporated as an actuarial gain into the measurement of 
the Plan obligation as of the November 30, 2006 measurement date and 
was updated as of the November 30, 2007 measurement date. The impact 
of the Act was not significant on the Company's post-retirement benefit 
expense in any year presented. The Company may amend any of the plans 
periodically to reflect legislative or other benefit changes.

NOTE 13: COMPANY OPERATIONS BY BUSINESS UNIT 

The Company is organized into four business units featuring the Research 
units of Essentials, Specialties and Biotech and the Fine Chemicals unit, 
SAFC, to align the Company with the customers it serves. The business unit 
structure is the Company's approach to serving customers and reporting 
sales rather than any internal division used to allocate resources. Net sales 
for the Company's business units are as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Research Essentials $   388.0 $   355.3 $   341.0

Research Specialties  760.9 669.7 626.2

Research Biotech  299.3 276.8 262.0

Research Chemicals  1,448.2 1,301.8 1,229.2

SAFC  590.5 495.7 437.3

 Total $2,038.7 $1,797.5 $1,666.5

The Company's Chief Operating Decision Maker and Board of Directors 
review profit and loss information on a consolidated basis to assess 
performance, make overall operating decisions and make resource 
allocations. The Company's business units are closely interrelated in their 
activities and share services such as order entry, billing, technical services, 
Internet, purchasing and inventory control and share production and 
distribution facilities. As a result, it is impractical and provides no value 
to allocate costs of these services to the business units. Additionally, the 
Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker, Chief Financial Officer and 
Business Unit Presidents participate in compensation programs which 
reward performance based upon consolidated Company results for sales 
growth, operating income growth, return on equity and return on assets. 
Certain Business Unit Presidents also have a modest component of their 
compensation program based on their respective business unit sales growth 
in addition to consolidated sales growth. Based on these factors, the 
Company concludes that it operates in one segment.

Sales are attributed to countries based upon the location of product shipped. The United States sales to unaffiliated customers presented in the summary 
below include sales to international markets as follows:

Year Amount Year Amount Year Amount

2007 $30.5 2006 $35.0 2005 $31.2

Geographic financial information is as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Net sales to unaffiliated customers:

 United States $   756.3 $   715.4 $   681.8

 United Kingdom 212.7 187.6 184.6

 Other International 1,069.7 894.5 800.1

  Total $2,038.7 $1,797.5 $1,666.5

Long-lived assets at December 31:

 United States $   466.3 $   433.1 $   469.0

 International 268.7 257.9 217.7

  Total $   735.0 $   691.0 $   686.7

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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NOTE 14: PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT 
BENEFIT PLANS  (continued) 

The following chart summarizes the Consolidated Balance Sheet impact, as well as the benefit obligations, assets and funded status of the pension and post-
retirement medical benefit plans:

Pension Plans
Post-Retirement

Medical Benefit PlansUnited States International

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Rec onciliation of funded status of the plans and 
the amounts included in the Company's 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31:

Change in benefit obligations

 Beginning obligations $ 95.8 $ 89.7 $173.2 $135.9 $ 40.6 $ 41.0

 Service cost 5.4 5.1 8.8 7.4 1.1 1.1

 Interest cost 5.1 4.9 6.3 5.6 2.2 2.1

 Plan participant contributions — — 2.4 2.2 0.7 0.4

 Plan amendments — (.1) — — — (6.8)

 Benefits and expenses paid (5.6) (6.0) (3.7) (2.3) (3.4) (2.6)

 Net transfer in — — — 4.3 — —

 Actuarial loss (gain) (1.5) 2.2 (10.2) 5.8 (2.3) 5.4

 Exchange rate changes — — 9.9 14.3 — —

 Ending obligations $ 99.2 $ 95.8 $186.7 $173.2 $ 38.9 $ 40.6

Changes in plans assets

 Beginning fair value $ 93.7 $ 85.2 $145.6 $116.2 $   — $   —

 Actual return on plan assets 7.4 12.0 5.3 10.6 — —

 Employer contributions 3.4 2.5 10.7 3.9 2.7 2.2

 Plan participant contributions — — 2.4 2.2 0.7 0.4

 Benefits and expenses paid (5.6) (6.0) (3.7) (2.3) (3.4) (2.6)

 Acquisitions — — — 2.9 — —

 Exchange rate changes — — 8.0 12.1 — —

 Ending fair value $ 98.9 $ 93.7 $168.3 $145.6 $   — $   —

Reconciliation of funded status

 Funded status $  (0.3) $  (2.1) $(18.4) $(27.6) $(38.9) $(40.6)

 Co ntributions and distributions made by Company
from measurement date to fiscal year end — — 0.3 0.3 0.1 0.1

 Net Consolidated Balance Sheet asset/(liability) $  (0.3) $  (2.1) $(18.1) $(27.3) $(38.8) $(40.5)

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets: 
For years after adoption of the funded status provisions of SFAS 158

 Noncurrent assets $   — $   — $   1.9 $   — $   — $   —

 Current liabilities — — (0.3) (0.2) (1.9) (2.0)

 Noncurrent liabilities (0.3) (2.1) (19.7) (27.1) (36.9) (38.5)

 Net amount recognized $  (0.3) $  (2.1) $(18.1) $(27.3) $(38.8) $(40.5)

Reconciliation of amounts recognized in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets

 Initial net (obligation) $   — $    — $  (0.3) $  (0.3) $   — $   —

 Prior service (cost) credit (1.9) (2.3) (1.4) (1.5) 9.6 10.6

 Net (loss) gain (22.3) (24.7) (21.7) (29.7) 5.4 3.1

 Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income $ (24.2) $ (27.0) $(23.4) $(31.5) $ 15.0 $ 13.7

 Accumulated contributions in excess of net periodic benefit cost  $ 23.9 $  24.9 $   5.3 $   4.2 $(53.8) $(54.2)

 Net amount surplus (deficit) recognized in statement of 
 financial position $  (0.3) $  (2.1) $(18.1) $(27.3) $(38.8) $(40.5)

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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Pension Plans
Post-Retirement

Medical Benefit PlansUnited States International

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Changes recognized in other comprehensive income
Changes due to minimum liability and intangible asset recognition prior to 
adoption of SFAS 158

 Decrease in additional minimum liability n/a — n/a $  (0.1) n/a —

 Decrease in intangible asset n/a — n/a 0.4 n/a —

 Other comprehensive loss n/a — n/a 0.3 n/a —

Changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other 
comprehensive income

 New prior service cost  — n/a — n/a — n/a

 Net loss (gain) arising during the year $  (1.4) n/a $  (7.8) n/a $  (2.3) n/a

 Effect of exchange rates on amounts included in AOCI — n/a 1.2 n/a — n/a

Amounts recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost 

 Amortization, settlement or curtailment recognition of net transition 
 asset (obligation) — n/a — n/a — n/a

 Amortization or curtailment recognition of prior service credit (cost) (0.4) n/a (0.2) n/a 1.0 n/a

 Amortization or settlement recognition of net gain (loss) (1.0) n/a (1.3) n/a — n/a

 Total recognized in other comprehensive loss (income) (2.8) n/a (8.1) 0.3 (1.3) —

 Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive 
 loss (income) 1.7 5.1 0.9 7.9 1.0 2.0

Increase in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, (before 
taxes), to reflect the adoption of SFAS 158 n/a $(27.0) n/a $(30.7) n/a $ 13.7

Estimated amounts that will be amortized from accumulated other 
comprehensive income over the next fiscal year

 Initial net (obligation) — — — — — —

 Prior service (cost) credit $  (0.4) $  (0.4) $  (0.3) $  (0.3) $   1.0 $   1.0

Net (loss) gain (1.1) (1.0) (0.3) (1.2) 0.1 —

Total estimated amortization $  (1.5) $  (1.4) $  (0.6) $  (1.5) $   1.1 $   1.0

The components of the net periodic benefit costs are as follows:

Pension Plans Post-Retirement
Medical Benefit PlansUnited States International

2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

 Service cost $5.4 $5.1 $4.6 $8.8 $7.4 $6.6 $1.1 $1.1 $1.0

 Interest cost 5.1 4.9 4.6 6.3 5.6 5.5 2.2 2.1 2.1

 Expected return on plan assets (7.4) (6.8) (6.4) (7.6) (6.9) (5.4) — — —

 Amortization 1.4 1.9 1.8 1.5 1.5 1.0 (1.0) (1.2) (0.9)

 Net periodic benefit cost $4.5 $5.1 $4.6 $9.0 $7.6 $7.7 $2.3 $2.0 $2.2

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

NOTE 14: PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT 
BENEFIT PLANS  (continued) 
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NOTE 14: PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT 
BENEFIT PLANS  (continued) 

The rate assumptions associated with the pension and post-retirement medical benefit plans to determine benefit obligations and additional year-end 
information are as follows:

Pension Plans Post-Retirement
Medical Benefit PlansUnited States International

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Assumptions to determine benefit obligations

 Discount rate 6.30% 5.55% 4.35% 3.60% 6.45% 5.55%

 Compensation rate increase 3.60% 3.25% 3.50% 3.31% n/a n/a

 Measurement date Nov-30 Nov-30 Nov-30 Nov-30 Nov-30 Nov-30

Additional year-end information

 Accumulated benefit obligation $  88.1 $  84.6 $161.7 $143.7 n/a n/a

 Pla ns with accumulated benefit obligations
in excess of plan assets: 

  Projected benefit obligation $   — $   — $  13.5 $  18.3 n/a n/a

  Accumulated benefit obligation — — 10.9 14.8 n/a n/a

  Fair value of plan assets — — — 3.8 n/a n/a

 Pla ns with projected benefit obligations
in excess of plan assets: 

  Projected benefit obligation $  99.2 $  95.8 $122.4 $173.2 $  38.9 $  40.6

  Fair value of plan assets 98.9 93.7 102.2 145.6 — —

The rate assumptions associated with the pension and post-retirement medical benefit plans to determine periodic pension costs are as follows:

Pension Plans Post-Retirement
Medical Benefit PlansUnited States International

2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

 Discount rate 5.55% 5.65% 6.00% 3.60% 3.88% 4.31% 5.55% 5.65/6.15%(1) 6.00% 

 Expected rate of return on plan assets 8.25% 8.25% 8.25% 5.08% 5.46% 5.22% n/a n/a n/a

 Compensation rate increase 3.25% 3.25% 3.50% 3.31% 3.48% 3.48% n/a n/a n/a

(1) Due to plan changes, the Post-Retirement Medical Plan expense was remeasured at May 31, 2006, using a discount rate of 6.15%.

The expected employer contributions and benefit payments are shown in the following table for the pension and post-retirement medical benefit plans:

Pension Plans Post-Retirement
Medical 

Benefit Plans(2)

Expected
Medicare 

Subsidy ReceiptsCash Flows
Year 

Ending
United 
States International 

 Ex pected employer contributions 2008 $  7.3 $  5.1 $  2.2 n/a

 Ex pected benefit payments for fiscal year ending 2008 8.8 4.5 2.2 $  0.3

2009 8.8 4.7 2.4 0.3

2010 8.5 5.2 2.6 0.4

2011 7.8 5.6 2.8 0.4

2012 8.9 5.9 2.9 0.5

Next 5 years 51.9 35.6 16.8 3.5

(2) Expected payments for Post-Retirement Medical Benefit Plans payments are shown net of the expected Medicare subsidy receipts.

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 (“PPA”) was effective on August 17, 2006. While the PPA will have some effect on specific plan provisions in our 
United States retirement program, its primary effect will be to change the minimum funding requirements for plan years beginning in 2008. Until relevant 
regulations are issued, the financial effect is uncertain. However, the changes in the timing and amount of our required contributions are not expected to be 
materially different than our current projections.

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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NOTE 15: EARNINGS PER SHARE

A reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings per share, together with the related shares outstanding for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Net income available to common shareholders $311.1 $276.8 $258.3

Weighted average shares (in millions)

 Basic shares 130.6 132.9 135.8

 Effect of dilutive securities — options outstanding 2.5 2.0 1.7

 Diluted shares 133.1 134.9 137.5

Net income per share — Basic $  2.38 $  2.08 $  1.90

Net income per share — Diluted $  2.34 $  2.05 $  1.88

NOTE 14: PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT 
BENEFIT PLANS  (continued) 

Pension Plans   For determination of the discount rate, the present value 
of the cash flows as of the measurement date is determined using the spot 
rates from the Mercer Yield Curve, and based on the present values, a 
single equivalent discount rate is developed.  This rate is the single uniform 
discount rate that, when applied to the same cash flows, results in the same 
present value of the cash flows as of the measurement date. The plans are 
assumed to continue in force for as long as the assets are expected to be 
invested. In estimating the expected long-term rate of return on assets, 
appropriate consideration is given to historical performance for the major 
asset classes held or anticipated to be held by the Plan and to current 
forecasts of future rates of return for those asset classes. Cash flow and 
expenses are taken into consideration to the extent that the expected return 
would be affected by them. Because assets are held in qualified trusts, 
expected returns are not reduced for taxes.

The assets of the pension plans are invested in institutionally acceptable 
investments to produce a diversified portfolio. The Company believes the 
investments are sufficiently diversified to maintain a reasonable level of risk 
without sacrificing return. Target asset allocations and weighted average 
asset allocations at November 30, 2007 are as follows:

Target Allocations
Weighted Average
Asset Allocations

U.S. 
Plans

International 
Plans

U.S. 
Plans

International 
Plans

 Equity Securities 70–85% 39–50% 78% 47%

 Real Estate — 6–12% — 9%

 Debt Securities 15–30% 36–57% 20% 38%

 Other 0–10% 0–10% 2% 6%

The Company has engaged an Investment Manager and Trustee for the 
U.S. Plan that has the responsibility of selecting investment fund managers 
with demonstrated experience and expertise and funds with demonstrated 
historical performance meeting the Plan’s investment guidelines. The 

Investment Manager considers both actively and passively managed 
investment strategies and allocates funds across the asset classes to develop 
an efficient investment structure.

The Trustees of the International Plans have engaged reputable institutions 
to invest the Plan’s assets in funds with demonstrated historical performance 
and manage the Plan’s assets in accordance with investment guidelines 
developed by the Trustees.

Post-Retirement Medical Benefit Plans  For determination of the 
discount rate, the present value of the cash flows as of the measurement 
date is determined using the spot rates from the Mercer Yield Curve, and 
based on the present values, a single equivalent discount rate is developed.  
This rate is the single uniform discount rate that, when applied to the 
same cash flows, results in the same present value of the cash flows as 
of the measurement date. Assumed health care cost trend rates have a 
significant effect on the amounts reported for the post-retirement medical 
benefit plans. Medical costs were assumed to increase at an annual rate of 
11.0% in 2007, decreasing ratably to a growth rate of 5.0% in 2014 and 
remaining at 5.0% per year thereafter. The effects of a one-percentage 
point decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rates on the aggregate 
service and interest cost components and on the post-retirement benefit 
obligations are decreases of $0.1 and $1.0, respectively. The effects of a 
one-percentage point increase on the aggregate service and interest cost 
components and on the post-retirement benefit obligations are increases of 
$0.1 and $1.0, respectively. Benefits are funded as claims are paid.

401(k) Retirement Savings Plan  The Company’s 401(k) retirement savings 
plan provides retirement benefits to eligible U.S. employees in addition 
to those provided by the pension plan. The plan permits participants 
to voluntarily defer a portion of their compensation, subject to Internal 
Revenue Code limitations. The Company also contributes a fixed amount 
per year to the account of each eligible employee plus a percentage of 
the employee’s salary deferral. The Company’s policy is to fully fund this 
plan. The cost for this plan was $8.3,  $7.7 and $7.1 for the years ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
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NOTE 17: ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax are as follows:

Foreign Currency 
Translation Adjustment

Unrealized Gain 
on Securities

Pension and 
Post-Retirement 

Benefi t Plans
Accumulated Other 

Comprehensive Income

Balance, December 31, 2004    $ 129.7 $  —  $ (5.9)  $ 123.8

Current period change  (96.6)  0.7  5.5  (90.4)

Balance, December 31, 2005  33.1  0.7  (0.4)  33.4

Current period change  75.6  3.4  (31.7)  47.3

Balance, December 31, 2006  108.7   4.1  (32.1)   80.7

Current period change  71.5  (0.7)  8.4  79.2

Balance, December 31, 2007  $180.2  $  3.4   $ (23.7)   $  159.9

The 2007 activity for unrealized gain on securities is net of tax of $0.9. The 2007 pension and post-retirement benefi t plans activity is net of tax of $3.8. 
Deferred taxes are not provided on foreign currency translation adjustment.

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
($ In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

NOTE 16: SHARE REPURCHASES

At December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the Company had 
repurchased a total of 84.0 million shares and 80.0 million shares, 
respectively. During 2006, the Company was authorized to increase its share 
repurchase program from 80.0 million to 90.0 million shares. There were 

129.4 million shares outstanding as of December 31, 2007. The Company 
expects to acquire the remaining 6.0 million authorized shares, however, 
the timing of the repurchases and number of shares repurchased, if any, will 
depend upon market conditions and other factors.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC 
ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Sigma-Aldrich Corporation:  We have audited the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets of Sigma-Aldrich Corporation and subsidiaries 
(the Company) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related 
consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows 
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 
2007.  We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  The Company’s 
management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for 
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, 
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) (United States).  Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting 
was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the consolidated 
financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.  Our 
audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions 

and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors 
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the 
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting 
may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Sigma-Aldrich 
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the 
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the 
three-year period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Also in our 
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the 
Company adopted the recognition and disclosure provision as required 
by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers’ 
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, as 
of December 31, 2006.

As discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements, effective 
January 1, 2006 the Company adopted the fair value method of accounting 
for stock-based compensation as required by Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004), Share-Based Payment.

As discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, effective 
January 1, 2007, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards 
Board Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an 
interpretation of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 109. 

St. Louis, Missouri 
February 25, 2008

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate 
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the Securities 
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15 (f)). Under the supervision and with the 
participation of our management, including our principal executive officer 
and our principal financial officer, we assessed the effectiveness of our 

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In 
making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO) in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Our management has 
concluded that, as of December 31, 2007, our internal control over financial 
reporting is effective based on these criteria. 

07_Annual_Report_Final.indd   5007_Annual_Report_Final.indd   50 3/4/2008   10:35:38 AM3/4/2008   10:35:38 AM



Office of the Chief Executive

Corporate Officers

Gilles A. Cottier
President, Research Essentials

Michael R. Hogan
Chief Administrative Officer &
Chief Financial Officer

David W. Julien
President, Research Specialties

Richard A. Keffer
Vice President,
General Counsel & Secretary

Karen J. Miller
Controller

Jai P. Nagarkatti
President & Chief Executive
Officer

Douglas W. Rau
Vice President,
Human Resources

Kirk A. Richter
Treasurer

David A. Smoller
President, Research Biotech

Carl S. Turza
Chief Information Officer

Gerrit J. C. van den Dool
Vice President, Sales

Steven G. Walton
Vice President, Safety & Quality

Franklin D. Wicks
President, SAFC

Board of Directors

David R. Harvey
Chairman of the Board

W. Lee McCollum
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer,
S.C. Johnson and Son, Inc.

Jai P. Nagarkatti
President and Chief
Executive Officer

Avi M. Nash
Former Partner, Goldman
Sachs; Managing Director,
Avi Nash LLC

William C. O’Neil, Jr.
Former Chief Executive Officer,
Tuitionfund.com

Steven M. Paul, M.D.
Executive Vice President for
Science and Technology and
President of the Lilly Research
Laboratories of Eli Lilly and
Company

J. Pedro Reinhard
Former Chief Financial Officer,
Dow Chemical Company;
President, Reinhard
& Associates

Timothy R.G. Sear
Former Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer,
Alcon, Inc.

D. Dean Spatz
Former Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer,
Osmonics, Inc.; Chief Executive
Officer, Watasso Ventures

Barrett A. Toan
Former Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer,
Express Scripts, Inc.

Corporate Information

Annual Meeting
Date: May 6, 2008
Time:11:00 a.m. CDT
Place: Sigma-Aldrich Life Science
and High Technology Center,
2909 Laclede Ave.,
St. Louis, MO 63103

General Information
Shares traded on NASDAQ
Global Select Market, Trading
symbol: SIAL; Options traded
on the Chicago Board Options
Exchange.

Transfer Agent
American Stock Transfer
and Trust Company,
New York, NY
800-937-5449

10-K
A copy of the Company’s
Form 10-K annual report, as
filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, may
be obtained without charge
by writing to the Secretary,
Sigma-Aldrich Corporation,
P.O. Box 14508,
St. Louis, Missouri 63178.

Corporate Offices
Sigma-Aldrich Corporation
3050 Spruce Street
St. Louis, Missouri 63103
800-521-8956
Fax: 314-286-7874
Email: sig-ald@sial.com
Website: sigma-aldrich.com

Leadership
Strengthening Our Commitment through Excellence

Rich Keffer, Karen Miller, Kirk Richter, Steve Walton,
Mike Hogan, Jai Nagarkatti, Carl Turza, Doug Rau

For the most up-to-date information about our Company visit our Investor
Relations Website at sigma-aldrich.com

Sigma-Aldrich, Sigma, Aldrich, SAFC, SAFC Biosciences, SAFC Supply Solutions, SAFC Hitech, SAFC
Pharma, Sigma in Orbits Device, Aqua Peptide, mirPremier, and Extract-N-Amp are trademarks
belonging to Sigma-Aldrich and its related companies.

QuantiGene is a registered trademark of Bayer Corp., and GenomePlex is a registered trademark
of Rubicon Genomics, Inc.

Page 1 photo: © 2008, The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Reprinted with permission.

This annual report is printed on FSC-certified
paper. The pages are printed on 10%
recycled stock.

Dave Julien, Gilles Cottier, Frank Wicks,
Gerrit van den Dool, David Smoller

The Company
Enhancing Global Reach through Excellence

At Sigma-Aldrich we are committed to accelerating customers’ success through leadership in Life Science, High Technology
and Service. In doing so, our leadership position was strengthened during 2007 through further investments in research
and development, strategic acquisitions and partnerships, the licensing of innovative technologies, and expansion in new
markets and faster growing economies. The Sigma-Aldrich vision is to be the leader in all the markets we serve. We remain a
trusted partner in research and manufacturing as we enhance our global reach through excellence.
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Four customer-centric business units
delivering quality and service everyday.
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Enhancing our global reach
through excellence.
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1,798

2,039
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2003*

*continuing operations

Net Income
$ Millions

2004 2005 2006 2007
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258
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311

1.34

2003*
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Per Share – Diluted
$

2004 2005 2006 2007

1.67
1.88

2.05

2.34 20.4

2003

Return on Equity
%

2004 2005 2006 2007

21.1 21.1 20.9 20.6

29

2003

Stock Price Range
$

2004 2005 2006 2007

31
34

40

56

21

27 28
31
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*continuing operations

Research Biotech
2007 Sales: $299 million

Targeted Growth: 10%

Market Growth: 4–5%

Top 5 Competitors:
Applied Biosystems, GE Healthcare,
Invitrogen, Millipore, Qiagen

Research Essentials
2007 Sales: $388 million

Targeted Growth: 4%

Market Growth: 2–3%

Top 5 Competitors:
EMerck, Invitrogen, Thermo-Fisher,
VWR, Wako

Research Specialties
2007 Sales: $761 million

Targeted Growth: 6%

Market Growth: 2–3%

Top 5 Competitors:
EMerck, GE Healthcare,
Roche Biomolecular,
Thermo-Fisher, Wako

SAFC
2007 Sales: $591 million

Targeted Growth: 10%

Market Growth: 2–3%

Top 5 Competitors:
BASF, Covidien, DSM,
Evonik Degussa, Lonza

About the cover To celebrate reaching $2 billion in annual sales in 2007, we commissioned renowned St. Louis-based
artist John Pils to create the collage of our corporate headquarters and major facilities around the world, including
flags of the 36 countries from which we serve our customers every day. We thank you, and all of the investors who
continue to show confidence in our future, for your role in our shared success.
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